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Staff Report 

Origin 

Pursuant to Section 98 of the Community Chaiier, before June 30th
, in each year, a Council must: 

a) Prepare an annual report 

b) Make the report available for public inspection 

c) Have the rep01i available for public inspection at a Council or other public meeting 

This rep01i supports Council's Strategic Plan 2018-2022 Strategy #5 Sound Financial 
Management: 

Accountable, transparent, and responsible financial management that supports the needs 
of the community into the fitture. 

5.1 Maintain a strong and robust financial position. 

This rep01i supports Council's Strategic Plan 2018-2022 Strategy #8 An Engaged and Infonned 
Community: 

Ensure that the citizenry of Richmond is well-informed and engaged about City business 
and decision-making. 

8.2 Ensure citizens are well-informed with timely, accurate and easily accessible 
communication using a variety of methods and tools. 

Analysis 

The City of Richmond's annual rep01i formally presents the audited financial statements and 
other relevant financial, economic and demographic indicators to the public. The rep01i also 
highlights many of the City's significant achievements and milestones from 2021. 

Two versions of the Annual Report are produced each year in order to reach the different 
audiences interested in this information. The comprehensive 2021 Annual Report meets all 
legislative requirements for financial reporting as required under the Community Charter for 
British Columbia's local governments. This version will be publicly available through the City's 
website at www.richmond.ca and printed only on a demand basis. The comprehensive version 
includes the City's audited consolidated financial statements; the City's corporate objectives and 
success indicators, as identified through Council's Term Goals; and a listing of pennissive 
exemptions. In addition to the statutorily required information, the comprehensive version 
provides infonnation on the City's milestones from 2021 , including awards and achievements 
and a variety of key corporate financial and community demographic statistical data for the year. 

For a broader audience, the City also produces a condensed financial reporting document known 
as the 2021 Annual Report- Highlights. This shorter version, which is designed to be accessible 
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and easily understandable for a general audience, provides information about the City of 
Richmond, its services, highlights from 2021 and the City's financial condition. In order to 
support sustainable practices the condensed version is available through the City's website and 
distribution will be done electronically. There will be limited printed copies for presentation 
purposes and to fulfill statutory obligations. 

Both copies will be submitted to the Government Finance Officers Association for consideration 
in their annual awards program. 

The reports are produced entirely in house through the joint effo1is of the Finance Depmiment 
and the Corporate Communications and Marketing Department. 

Financial Impact 

None. 

Conclusion 

The City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report and the 2021 Annual Report Highlights satisfy the 
Community Charter requirements for financial reporting and are important instruments in 
ensuring public transparency and accountability for the management of City finances. The 
reports also provide useful infonnation on the City's achievements and milestones during the 
2021 fiscal year. 

~ 
Ivy Wong 
Acting Director, Finance 

(4046) 
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Our vision is to be the most appealing, livable 
and we/I-managed community in Canada 
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~ The City of Richmond is proud of its diverse and committed workforce. Th is year, w e asked our 
\ii employees to take photos and send us images of "their Richmond" for this report. Photos w ith 

the camera icon are just some of the submiss ions, and we are de lighted to share them w ith you. 
None are professional photographers. 

COVER PHOTO: CITY HALL IN SPRING AFTER MORNING RAIN 
PHOTO BY LUC LUK, BUILDING SYSTEM MAINTENANCE LEAD HAND, FACILITY SERVICES 
CITY EMPLOYEE SINCE 2003 
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Message from the Mayor 
The City of Richmond is proud of our high quality of life. Through its actions, City 
Council has always sought to provide infrastructure t hat prese rves our rich and 

vibrant cu ltural identity. 

Events of the past two years have fu rther heightened the need to focus on 
how we provide a susta inable fu ture. Many t hink of sustainab ili ty only from an 
environmental perspect ive. Climate change is obviously a major concern as shown 
by extl'eme weather events in 2021. Through long-term investments in flood 
protection infrastructure as we ll as awa rd-w inning initiatives such as our Lulu 
Island District Energy program, Richmond is bu ilding a green and safe f uture fo r it s 
resident s. 

Howeve1·, t he term "sustainabil ity" has a much greater mea ning in Richmond . It 
encompasses the development of policies, services and supports to ensure that 
current and future generations maintai n a sense of community and belonging. It 
also includes having a strong economy that supports businesses, their employees 

and fami lies. It invo lves diffe rent concepts such as ensuring safety for residents and businesses, providing adequate 
infrastructure as well as protecting our diverse cult ure. 

Protecting our community is paramount as demonstrated by Richmond, stat isti ca lly in the region, having some of 
the lowest incidence of COVID-1 9 cases t hroughout the pa ndemic. Closely regulating access and activit ies to City 
facilit ies played a ro le, as did our Counci l-led mask mandate and a vaccination requi rement for City employees. All 
of Cou ncil-as well as almost all City staff-recognized the importance of protecting themselves, their colleagues 
and t he com munity through vaccination against COVID-1 9. 

The recent openin g of t he City Centl'e Community Police Offi ce fo r RCMP operat ions, along w ith add ing 51 off ice rs 
and 36 fi ref ighters this te rm are exa mples of Council 's com mitment to public safety. In 202 1, t he RCM P Fox 80 
Menta l Hea lth Car completed its second full yea r in partnership w ith Vancouver Coastal Hea lth by responding 
to approximately 800 ca lls. This program reduced high-risk situations through the interaction of a mental hea lth 
professional. 

City Council also supported the RCMP " No Place for Hate" campaign to encourage awareness of racism and hate 
cr imes and provide too ls to help victi ms, their fa milies and friends. It has been hea rtening to see the push against 
racism grow foll owing Council 's Statement Against Racism and Violence in 2020, offe ring furt her momentum to 
eradicate such unacceptab le behaviou r. 

Richmond is proud of its rich cultu ra l heritage and diversity. It honoured Ca nada's first National Day for Truth and 
Reconciliation w it h a f lag lowerin g, educational programs and inte ract ive displays. In partnership w ith Ri chmond 
Community Associat ions and other partners, Richmond again supported a range of activit ies to promote P1·ide 
Week and our LGBTQ2S+ community. W it h a w ide range of topics, the City's second Diversity Symposium was 
attended by over 200 individuals from across BC, Canada and inte rnationa lly. 

Wh ile many long-1·unning, popular events and festiva ls remained cancelled to mai ntain public safety, there was 
growing acceptance of the transition to on line programs and events. For instance, t he popular Doors Open 
Ri chmond event went online again, attract ing over 25,000 interact ions w ith 35 vi1·tual locat ions. Council recognizes 
the importance and va lue of engagement to build a strong community. Maintaining such events-even if virtual­
supports that commitment. 

To ensure a bright and susta inable fu tu re, it is important to take action and make w ise investments today. 
Richmond's success, despite the challenges of COVID-1 9, is a credit to those w ho contri bute to making our city a 
better place. This includes our staff , vo lunteers and businesses as we ll as our community and government partners. 
Our Ann ual Report contains examples of ouI· goa ls and achievements. As always, I invite your comments and 
questions throug h my office. 

Malcolm Bmdle ~ 
Mayor, City of Richmond 
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Richmond City Council 

Top row, left to right: 
Council lor Chak Au, Councillor Carol Day, Counci llor Andy Hobbs (elected May 2021 ), 
Councillor A lexa Loo 

Centre: 
Mayor Malcolm Brodie 

Bottom row, left to right 
Council lor Bill McNu lty, Councillor Linda McPhai l, Council lor Haro ld Steves, 
Councillor Michael Wolfe 

Connect with Richmond City Council 
To contact Council, email MayorAndCounci llors@richmond.ca or ca ll 604-276-4000. 
For Counci l Meetings agendas and minutes, visit www.richmond.ca/cityhall/council/agendas. 

To live stream Counci l meetings or view videos of past meetings, visit 

www.richmond.ca/Watch0nline. 
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Message from the Chief Administrative Officer 
I am pleased to present the City of Richmond's An nua l Report fo1· 202 1. It deta ils our 
strong financia l position and outlines many of the initiatives we are undertaking to 
achieve our vision of making Richmond Canada's best-managed city. 

The past year continued to present cha llenges due to the ongoing pandemic and 
extreme weather situations. In both cases, the City was wel l prepared and ab le to 
mitigate t he impact due to strong leade1·shi p, forward planning and sound investment 
Many of t hose actions and achievements are highlighted throughout th is report . 

As the pandemic entered its second year, City administration and staff remained focused 
on the need to maintain public safety. That required difficult decisions. W ith the support 
of Council, strategies were implemented to ensure vita l City services remained in place 
and staff cou ld contribute to sustain ing the local economy. 

Services transit ioned smoothly to onl ine access as the City switched seamlessly to a 
hybrid or remote working model. Not on ly was this in keeping with provincia l hea lth 
orders, it demonstrated the dedication and resiliency of employees as they adjusted to 
new work envi ronments whi le maintaining high levels of productivity and reliab il ity. 

Their commitment to safety was further demonstrated when Counci l enacted a proof of vaccination requ irement for 
al l staff. Almost 99 per cent confirmed full vaccination status, w it h most vacci nated long before the mandate was in 
place. It was this conscious recognition of the need to protect themselves, colleagues, fam ily and residents that kept 
Richmond's COVID-19 case counts among the lowest in t he reg ion. 

2021 also saw terms such as "heat dome" and "atmospheric 1·iver" become part of our vocabulary. Record summer 
temperatu res saw Richmond develop an emergency cooling strategy. Shou ld extreme heat events become more 
common, t he City is ready to provide respite fo r our most vulnerable cit izens from potent ia lly life th reaten ing heat 
waves. 

Richmond was also subject to extreme rainfa ll events (atmospheric rivers) in November. In one instance, over 130 
millimetres (five inches) of ra in fe ll in just three days. Thanks to long term plann ing and investment in flood protection, 
the City emerged relat ively unscathed. Sad ly, not al l British Columbia commun it ies were as fortunate. 

Our capacity to handle t he situation was not on ly due to the $120 million investment in flood protection over the yea rs, 
but also the City employees who worked 24/7 in sometimes difficu lt and dangerous situat ions to keep our 39 pump 
stations clear and operational, and our 49 ki lometres of dikes secu re. 

Of course, one of the foundations for any successful organization is its abil ity to demonstrate strong f inancial 
stewardsh ip. The City's long-term financia l strategy remained a hal lmark of our administration and enabled us to 
continue to maintain effective and responsive service leve ls as th is report shows. 

The City of Richmond rema ins a strong, cu lt ura lly proud commun ity and is committed to continued growth and success 
within a framework of diversity, susta inability and va lue for our taxpayers. 

Final ly, this wi ll be my last Annua l Report message as CAO. I announced plans to retire in mid-2022 and expect to 
hand over responsibi lit ies to a new Ch ief Administrative Officer prior to that During my 34+ years with the City, I have 
seen dramatic change and progress. I am proud to have played a role in bringing the Ca nada Line rapid transit to our 
community and in enabling construction of t he internationa lly renowned Richmond Olympic Ova l. 

Whi le initially bui lt as a speed-skating competition arena for the 2010 Olympic Winter Games-for wh ich Richmond 
was an official Host Venue-the Oval was transformed into a community sport, recreation and elite ath letics fac ility 
that now welcomes thousands of residents of al l ages and abilities annua lly. It is a true legacy from one of my most 
memorable t imes as CAO. 

But w hat I am most proud of is the people. The staff, leadership team and Council who continued to give t hei r al l to 
ensure Richmond was always a better, safer and more welcoming place. As I leave, I know the City is in a sound position 
and more t han ready to maintain its journey as t he most appealing, livable and well-managed community in Canada. 

George Duncan 

Chief Administrative Officer 
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Council Strategic Plan: 2018 to 2022 
The Community Charter requires all BC 
municipa lities to include a statement in the 
Annual Report of their objectives for t he current 
and future years, along with measures to track 
success towards those objectives. 

The City of Richmond's objectives and success 
ind icators are expressed through the Counci l 
Strategic Plan . Soon after Counci l began its 
four-year term in October 20 18, it undertook 
a strateg ic planning process to he lp fu lfi ll its 
governance ro le and achieve a successful term of 
office. Through that process, Council adopted a 
revised set of eight Strategic Focus areas, wh ich 
provided the framework for the City's programs 
and services during 202 1. 

1. A Safe and Resilient Community 
Enhance and protect the safety and wel l-being of 
Richmond. 

2021 Achievement 
City Council made full COVID-19 vaccination 
mandatory for all City employees as an added 
safety measure to protect residents, visitors 
and staff. By year-end, almost 99 per cent of 
City staff and every Council member comp lied. 
Counci l also added fund ing for an additiona l 16 
RCMP officers and 12 firefighters to complete 
Richmond's Safe Commun ity Strategy, as we ll as 
unvei led the new City Centre Commun ity Police 
Office. These and other initiatives saw break and 
enter crimes drop 33 per cent for residences and 
1 5 per cent for businesses. 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 
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2. A Sustainable and 
Environmentally Conscious City 
Environmentally conscious decision-making 
that demonstrates leadership in implementing 
innovative, susta inable pract ices and supports the 
City's unique biodiversity and is land ecology. 

2021 Achievement 
Ongoing investment in dike and flood protection 
infrastructure saw the island city w ithsta nd one 
of the province's most devastating floods on 
record. Richmond's 39 pump stat ions moved 
90 cubic metres of water per second (1.4 
mill ion US gallons per minute) - the equivalent 
of over two Olymp ic swimming poo ls every 
60 seconds. The City also became one of only 
15 loca l governments across Canada selected 
to participate in the Canadian Circu lar Cit ies 
and Reg ions Initiative, a peer-to-peer network 
bringing communities together to exchange best 
practices for implementing circular economy 
strategies and policies. 

6 

FIN - 17



c---J 
~ •. 

r.~lllllt' (- /(. -.. '•~~ 
ALMOST 200 NEW CHILD CARE SPACES WERE ADDED WITH THE 
OPENING DF EARLY CHILDHOOD DEVELOPMENT HUBS 

3. One Community Together 
Vibrant and diverse arts and cultural activities and 
opportun ities for community engagement and 
connection. 

2021 Achievement 
The City invested over $1 million in grants to 
local non-profit arts and culture organ izations, 
commun ity service groups, as well as grassroots 
providers in childcare, health and social services, 
and parks, recreation and commun ity events. 
Richmond's 14th annual Doors Open festiva l 
offered a rare glimpse inside places of worsh ip, 
civic centres, museums and local bus inesses 
throughout the community. Over 25,000 social 
media interactions and 13,000 views were logged 
for the week-long on li ne event. 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 

4. An Active and 
Thriving Richmond 
An active and thriving commun ity characterized 
by diverse social and wellness programs, services 
and spaces that foster health and well -be ing for 
all. 

2021 Achievement 
Council amended the City's Affordable Housing 
Policy to increase the number of affordab le rental 
units in new City Centre residential projects 
containing at least 60 un its from 10 per cent 
to 1 5 per cent - among the highest level in t he 
region . Over 1,500 affordab le housing units in 
new developments across Richmond have been 
confirmed since the policy was introduced, 
w ith more underway. Counci l also continued 
to advocate for affordab le, accessible, quality 
child ca re, open ing two new innovative Early 
Chi ldhood Development Hubs w ith 199 spaces 
to add to the more than 7,000 ch ildcare spaces 
already in place to support the needs of ch ildren, 
families and employers in the city. 

5. Sound Financial Management 
Accountable,. transparent and responsible 
financia l management that supports the needs of 
the community into the future. 

2021 Achievement 
Counci l supported a budget that enabled several 
key infrastructure projects, in itia lly deferred due 
to the pandem ic, to proceed, as well as ensuring 
operating resources for key commun ity safety 
priorities. While utilizing reserves to mitigate cost 
increases, the budget ma int ained a one per cent 
comm itment to investment for future capita l 
needs. The City maintained a position of financial 
resiliency and se rvice whi le keeping the overal l 
impact to property owners to a tax change of 
around 27 cents per day. 
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6. Strategic and Well­
Planned Growth 
Leadership in effective and susta inab le growth 
that supports Richmond's physical and socia l 
needs. 

2021 Achievement 
Richmond issued development and construction 
permits for 587 res idential, 333 commercial and 
217 industrial buildings - a 23 per cent increase 
from the previous year. With $719 million in 
new construction value, this was higher than the 
City's 10-year average. The City also collected 
over $16.2 million in development cost charges 
in 202 1 to help finance future infrastructure and 
amenities such as parks and roads. 

7. A Supported Economic Sector 
Facilitate diversified economic growth through 
innovative and sustainab le policies, practices and 
partnerships. 

2021 Achievement 
Prior investment, along with initiatives such as 
Richmond's Business Resilience and Supply Chain 
program and the Expedited Temporary Patio 

City of Richmond 2021 Annua l Report 
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Program, helped local businesses deal with the 
challenges of the pandemic. The number of new 
business licences issued in 2021 rose 15 per 
cent from the previous year, signa ling continued 
economic recovery and renewal. 

8. An Engaged and 
Informed Community 
Ensure that the citizenry of Richmond is we ll ­
informed and engaged about City business and 
decision-making. 

2021 Achievement 
Connecting with one of the most culturally 
diverse and unique populations in Canada can 
be challenging. Over 35,000 users participated 
in almost 40 engagement initiatives on the City's 
LetsTalkRichmond.ca platform, a 44 per cent 
increase. The City's social media platforms also 
saw steady growth with a 23 per cent increase 
in Facebook followers, a 47 per cent rise on 
lnstagram and a 50 per cent jump in You Tube 
subscribers. The City's website logged over 3.4 
million visits, a 64 per cent increase from 2020. 
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Long-serving CAO bids farewell 

Richmond's long-serving Chief Administrative 
Officer, George Duncan, wi ll retire from his 
position on June 30, 2022. 

The 202 1 City of Richmond Annual Report 
w ill be the last comp leted under his full year 
of leadership, wh ich has spanned over three 
decades. 

Announcing the retirement, Mayor Malcolm 
Brodie said George wil l be missed by both the 
organization and the community. "George 
has made a major impact on our city," he 
sa id . "Under his leadership, Richmond has 
become an award-winn ing leader in civic 
admin istration, sustainabi lity, community safety 
and operat ions. One on ly has to look around 
to see how our city has grown into a diverse, 
dynamic and well-managed community to see 
his contributions and legacy." 

City of Richmond 202 1 Annua l Report 

Examples of those contribut ions include the 
key role he played in bringing rap id transit to 
Richmond w ith the introduction of the Canada 
Line, as wel l as Richmond becoming a Host 
Venue for the 2010 Olympic Winter Games. 
He was instrumenta l in securing the design 
and construction of the woi-ld-renowned 
Richmond Olympic Oval and its successful 
transition from a compet ition speed skating 
ven ue for the Games to a state-of-the-art 
multi-purpose community fac ility and sports 
complex benefi ting local recreational and elite 
athletes ali ke . 

Mayor Brodie also commended George for 
his commitment to pub lic safety, in particu lar 
his vital leadership during the COVID-1 9 
pandemic. "Council has always seen the 
safety and well-being of ou r comm unity as 
paramount," he said. "When the pandem ic 
hit Richmond, George mobilized teams and 
resources to ensure City services and staff 
were well positioned to keep key services in 
place and to protect the safety of employees, 
res idents and businesses. That Richmond is on 
the road to econom ic and communi ty recovery 
so qu ick ly is due, in large part, to George's 
experienced leadersh ip and comm itment 
during those cha lleng ing times." 

Joi ning the City in 1987, George was 
appointed CAO a decade later after taking on 
a series of progressive management roles and 
responsibilit ies. Under his leadership, the City 
and its staff have received over 200 awards 
for va rious programs and initiatives. These 
include two prestigious Canadian Association 
of Municipal Administrators (CAMA) Willis 
Awards for Exce llence in Administration and 
Innovation, CAMA awards for Environmenta l 
Leadersh ip and Susta inabi lity and Professional 
Development, an Award of Excellence from 
the BC Human Resources Management 
Association, and awards from the International 
City/Cou nty Management Association. 
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Richmond: ensuring a sustainable future 

While 2021 brought new challenges to many 
parts of Brit ish Columbia, the City of Richmond 
was well positioned to meet them head on 
thanks to a lengthy history of infrastructure 
investment, planning and effective leadership. 

Due in large part to a multi-year investment of 
over $120 million in dikes and flood protection 
strategies, Richmond was successfu l in preventing 
large-scale damage when three devastating 
atmospheric rivers hit in November. The City's 
39 pump stations, combined with 49 kilometres 
of dikes, 165 kilometres of watercourses, 61 
kilometres of box culverts and 585 kilometres of 
drainage pipes, kept rising waters at bay. 

The existing dike network can withstand high 
water events such as spring freshet and king 
tides, and handle a 500-year return period 
(estimated average time between) flooding event. 
However, recognizing the rapid impact of climate 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 

change, Council authorized an acceleration of the 
plan to raise the dikes well ahead of current sea 
level rise projections over the next 50 years. 

Earlier in the year, Richmond experienced another 
unexpected weather phenomenon-the heat 
dome. Severa l days of unrelenting record-setting 
temperatures arrived in July, prompting the 
development of a cooling centre strategy and 
mobilization of emergency services to protect the 
most vulnerable . 

With the pandemic continuing to keep a grip 
on the community and economy, the City 
worked to f ind sustainable, innovative ways 
to support residents and businesses. The City, 
along with Tourism Richmond and the Richmond 
Hotel Association, unveiled a tourism plan to 
reinvigorate and revitalize the ailing industry that 
brought over $2 billion to the city pre-pandemic. 
Richmond Sport Hosting still managed to support 
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20 events generating 2,700 room nights in 2021, 
and tourism numbers continued to rise as trave l 
and pandemic restrictions eased by year-end. 

Council took many decisive steps to assist in 
preserving Richmond's rich agricultura l heritage 
and promote a susta inable farming sector. 
Adoption of a new Soil Deposit and Remova l 
Bylaw expanded the City's regulatory framework 
w ith incentives for sourcing new soi l from 
within Richmond whi le increasing fines for 
non-compliance. The bylaw provides enhanced 
enforcement in environmenta lly sensitive areas 
and supports other Counci l-endorsed st rategies 
such as the Eco logica l Network Management 
Strategy, the Farming First Strategy and Invasive 
Species Action Plan. The move was timely as 
future soi l deposits increase as the City raises the 
level of the land for further protection . 

Development and construction offered visib le 
evidence of economic recovery and susta inability 
with $7 19 mi ll ion in new construct ion value 
approved. This was higher than Rich mond's 
10-year average. Council instil led furthe r 
confidence in economic recovery w ith several key 
projects including approval of the $95 mil lion 
rep lacement of the Steveston Commun ity Centre 
and Branch Library; the opening of the new River 
Parkway traffic and cycling corridor to alleviate 

THE PUBLIC PROVIDED INPUTTO UPDATE THE POPULAR CITY-WIDE CYCLING NETWORK 

City of Richmond 2021 Annua l Report 

NUMEROUS NON-RESIDENTIAL PATHWAYS WERE PAVED WITH RECYCLED MATERIALS 

congest ion in the busy City Centre; and updates 
to the popu lar city-wide cycl ing network. 

The Provincial Government announced plans 
to build a new Steveston Highway Interchange 
and rep lace the aging George Massey Tunnel 
w ith an eight-lane immersed tunnel. The 
project recognizes Council 's long-standing 
recommendation for how to address the heavily 
congested road corridor, reducing travel time and 
improving trans it access. 

Fol lowing the success of an innovative road 
paving project using 40 per cent recycled 
mate1·ials, the City expanded the technology 
to pave 20 non-residential pathways across 
Richmond, w ith more planned . Such innovation, 
combined w ith the continued growth of 
Richmond's award-winn ing district energy 
infrastructure that reduces 7,800 tonnes of 
greenhouse gasses annual ly, reinforce Richmond's 

· comm itment to a sustainab le, environmenta lly 
friendly future. 

The City of Richmond has always been a leader 
with bold, innovative programs and strategies 
that reflect our character and reputation as a 
safe, sustainable and culturally diverse city that 
makes it one of the most appealing, livable and 
wel l-managed communities in Canada. 
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2021 Awards 

A measurement of the City's success in achieving 
its goals are the honours and recognition from 
our peers and others. In 2021, Richmond again 
received numerous international, national and 
provincial awards recognizing our commitment to 
excellence and innovation. 

District energy 
Recipient of over a dozen awards in the past 
decade, Richmond's District Energy Program 
cont inues to collect accolades for its innovation, 
efficiency and green sustainability. In 2021, it 
received the Community Energy Association's 
Climate and Energy Action Award . With 22 
buildings and over five mill ion square feet of floor 
space, the innovative District Energy Program is 
reducing greenhouse gas emissions by over 7,800 
tonnes-the equivalent of removing 2,000 cars 
from our roads-each year. 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 

Accessibility by design 
The Minoru Centre for Active Living, the City of 
Richmond's state-of-the-art fitness and aquatic 
facil ity, received the 2021 Architecture Prize 
for Accessibi lity from the International Olympic 
Comm ittee, Internationa l Paralympic Comm ittee, 
and Internationa l Association for Sports and 
Leisure Facilities. The annual Distinction for 
Accessibi lity Award aims to increase the 
accessibi lity of all sports and leisure faci lities 
and architectural structures worldwide so that 
everyone has an opportun ity to practice and view 
sport freely and w ithout barriers. 

Financial reporting 
Once again, the Government Finance Officers 
Association of the US and Canada presented 
Richmond with the Canadian Award for Financia l 
Reporting (the 19th year in a row) and the 
Outstanding Achievement in Popular Financial 
Reporting Award (the 12th successive year) for its 
2020 Annual Reports. 

12 

FIN - 23



Sustainability 
The Union of BC Municipalities, wh ich represents 
and advocates to government on behalf of 
municipalities across British Columbia, presented 
the City of Richmond with an Honourable 
Mention in the Community Excellence Award­
Service Delivery category for customer-friendly 
upgrades to its Works Yard Recycling Depot. The 
$1.58 mil lion upgrades to aging infrastructure 
improved operations by provid ing a larger site, 
expanding the number of hazardous waste 
materials collected, adding tent coverings and 
stee l awnings to shield recyclers and staff from 
the weather, as well as the purchase of new 
heavy equipment for moving recycled materials . 

Protecting our environment 
The Environmental Manager's Association 
of BC recognized Richmond's environmenta l 
stewardship with two prestigious awards. 
The City's Corporate Hazardous Materials 
Management Training initiative was honoured 
in the Regulatory Cha llenge category at the 
organization's 202 1 Environmental Awards Gala, 
wh ile its Mitchell Island Stewardship Initiative 
received the Discharge Control Award. Both 
programs demonstrate the City's commitment 
to protecting our environment and putting 
processes and systems in place to protect and 
maintain va luable ecosystems. 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 

Government Finance Officers Association 

Award for 
Outstanding 

Achievement in 
Popular Annual 

Financial Reporting 

Presented to 

City of Richmond 

British Columbia 

For its Annual Financial Report 
for the Fiscal Year Ended 

December 31, 2020 

Executive Director/CEO 
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Report from the General Manager, 
Finance and Corporate Services 
Mayor Malcom Brodie and Members of Richmond City Council, 

I am pleased to submit the Consolidated Financia l Statements and Aud itors' Report for the fiscal 
yea r ended December 31, 202 1 for the City of Richmond, pursuant to Section 98 and 167 of the 
Commun ity Charter. The consolidated financ ial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian publ ic sector accounting standards as prescribed by the Pub lic Sector Accounting Board 
(PSAB) of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada. Preparation of the financia l statements is 
management's responsibility. 

KPMG LLP was appointed by City Council to independently aud it the City's consolidated financial 
statements. They have expressed an opinion that the City's consolidated financia l statements present 
fair ly, in all materia l respects, the consolidated financial position of the City of Richmond as at 
December 31, 2021 and its consolidated results of operat ions, its changes in net consolidated financial 
assets and its conso lidated cash flows for the year ended in accordance with Canadian publ ic sector 
accounting standards. 

These financial statements combine the accounts of the City of Richmond, Richmond Olymp ic Ova l and 
Richmond Public Li brary (collective ly referred to as the "C ity"), as well as the City's investment in Lul u 
Island Energy Company, wh ich is accounted for as a Government Bus iness Enterprise. 

Consolidated statement of financial position (in $000s) 
2021 Actual 2020 Actual Change 

Financial Assets $ 1,468,241 $ 1,471,442 $(3,201) 
Liab ilities 528,238 582,457 (54,219) 
Net Financial Assets 940,003 888,985 51,018 
Non-Financial Assets 2,547,884 2,495,22 1 52,663 
Accumulated Surplus $3,487,887 $3,384,206 $103,681 

The City's overall financial position improved by $103. 7 million, w it h accumulated surplus (sim ilar to 
net worth of a corporation) totaling $3.5 billion. A significant part of this increase is due to additions 
to capita l assets and statutory reserves, as well as a reduction in liabilities, especia lly a reduction in 
accou nts payable re lating to postponed remittances to other governments re lating to COVID-19 paid in 
2021. 

The City's cash and investments are $1.4 billi on while long-term debt continues to decline w ith an 
outstanding ba lance at the end of 2021 of $17.4 mi llion. Meanwhi le, the City's tangib le capital assets 
increased by $51.1 million, wh ich incl udes $61 .0 mi ll ion of in-kind contribut ions from development as 
conditions of re-zoning. 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 14 

FIN - 25



Statutory reserves (in $000s) 

Total Reserves 
2017 

$484,883 
2018 

$540,153 
2019 

$557,576 
2020 

$609,533 
2021 

$647,209 

Statutory reserves are established by Bylaw for specific purposes, mainly cap ital expenditures. 

The increase in the balance to $647.2 mi lli on is mainly attributable to the timing of these capital 
expenditures and contributions . There are annual transfers through the City's utility and operating 
budget, as wel l as through other respective entities' annual budget. Council's Long Term Financial 
Management Strategy also states that increases in transfers through the City's operating budget be 
done annually. 

Consolidated statement of operations (in $000s) 

Revenue 
Expenses 
Annual Surplus 

2021 Budget 
$575,688 

507,765 

2021 Actual 
$576,698 

473,017 

2020 Actual 
$579,052 
434,188 

$67,923 $103,681 $144,864 

The City's consolidated revenue for the year totaled $576.7 mil lion, a decrease of $2.4 million from 
2020 main ly due to a decrease in the gain on sale of land offset by revenue increases related to faci li ty 
re-open ings from the COVID-19 closures. 

Expenses increased by $38.8 mi lli on from prior year mainly due to re lated fac ility re-openings from the 
COVID-19 closures. 

The annual surplus for 2021 was $103 . 7 mil lion and represents the change in investment in tangib le 
capita l assets, reserves and other accumu lated surplus . 

Budget variance 
Consolidated revenue of $576.7M was greater than budgeted revenue by $1 .0M main ly due to: 

• $6.7M in developer cash contribut ions and $0.7M in gain on sa le of land that are not budgeted. 

• $5.7M higher than budgeted gam ing revenue mainly due to the mid-year re-open ing of the River 
Rock Casino that was previously closed due to COVID-19. 

• $2 .6M higher than budgeted payments-in-lieu of taxes due to higher than expected payments from 
other agencies. 

• $4.4M lower than budgeted sa les of services main ly due to reduced community services programs 
due to COVID-19. 

• $8.4M lower than budgeted Development Cost Charges (DCC) revenue due to the timing of capital 
expenditures. Revenue is recognized when the amounts are spent whi le the budget represents the 
2021 allocation of DCCs towards capital projects that can be spent over multip le years . 

Conso lidated expenses of $473.0M were lower than budgeted by $34.7M. The main variances incl ude: 

• $13.7M lowe1· than budgeted community services costs mainly due to reduced community services 
programming due to COVID-19 . 

• $9 .7M lower than budgeted genera l government costs due to vacant positions, realized savings due 
to lower expend itures and staff redep loyment due to COVID-1 9. 

• $3 .9M lower than budgeted community safety costs mainly due to sa lary savings relating to filling 
new f ire fighter and officer positions approved in 202 1. 

The City's conso lidated annual surplus of $103 .7 mi llion exceeded the budgeted annual surplus of 
$67.9 million by $59.6 million, prior to transfers to reserves and other accumulated surp lus. 
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Year over year change 
Consolidated revenue of $576.7M decreased by $2.4M from 2020 mainly due to: 

• an increase of $15 .BM in property taxes due to the approved rate increase and growth 1·elated to 
new development. 

• a decrease of $7.3M in other revenue main ly due to reductions in developer cash contributions of 
$2.SM and gain on sa le of land of $5.BM. 

• an increase of $6.SM in sa les of service revenue mainly due to the re-opening of faci liti es closed due 
to COVID-19. 

• a decrease of $6.4M in other cap ital funding main ly due to externa l capita l grants. 

• a decrease of $5.4M in licences and permits mainly due to building permits revenue recogn ized on 
large sca le development construction completed in 2020. 

• a decrease of $5.2M in investment income due to the low interest rate environment. 

Consolidated expenses of $473.0M increased by $38 .BM over 2020 mainly due to: 

• $10.3M increase in commun ity safety costs mainly due to pol ice contract increases and additional 
f irefighter and officer positions. 

• $9.0M increase in community services costs mainly due to the re-opening of community facilities 
closed due to COVID-19. 

Financial sustainability 
2021 saw the easing of COVID-19 challenges through the continued re-opening of commun ity 
recreation facil ities and resumption of gaming revenues from the re-opening of the River Rock Casino 
resulting in the City maintaining its excellent financial position. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Jerry Chong, CPA, CA 
Acting General Manager, Finance and Corporate Services 
May 9, 2022 
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City of Richmond aud ited financial statements 

KPMG LLP 
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1 K3 
Canada 
Telephone (604) 691-3000 
Fax (604) 691-3031 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To the Mayor and Council of the City of Richmond 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the City of Richmond (the 
"City"), which comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31 , 2021 

• the consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended 

• the consolidated statement of changes in net financial assets for the year then 
ended 

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

• and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies 

(hereinafter referred to as the "financial statements"). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the City as at December 31, 2021, and its 
consolidated results of operations, its consolidated changes in net financial assets and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian public 
sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
"Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements" section of our 
auditors' report. 

We are independent of the City in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

!(PfAG LLP an Ontario l1m1ted hab11it11 partnership and member firm of the l~PMG glob3! c,rgan1za11on of independent 
'".;.." f,;::., r,..,,., :,ff,lo:,f,:.,-1 ,, .. th l(DtAr.: lnlorn,:,hr.r-,,,.11 ,n·,,tc,sl ,:. ,.,,,.,:,t.,. i::..,,.,,1u::h rn<TI,·,,:,n, 1.,,~,10,-l 1--,., n,,::.,~nt.:.o 
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City of Richmond 
Page 2 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for 
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
City's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the City or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 

but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the City's financial 

reporting process. 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, 
we exercise professiona l judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the 
audit. 

We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia l statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion , forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal contro l. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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City of Richmond 
Page 3 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis 
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the City's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the City to cease to continue as a going concern . 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fa ir presentation. 

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the group entity to express an opinion on the 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Vancouver, Canada 
May 9, 2022 
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City of Richmond audited financial statements 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 

2021 2020 

Financial Assets 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 672,031 $ 530,034 
Investments (note 3) 696,886 834,010 
Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company ("LIEC") (note 4) 33,647 32,736 
Accrued interest receivable 8,932 9,697 
Accounts receivable (note 5) 29,655 21,521 
Taxes receivable 14,157 14,419 
Development fees receivable 12,425 28,517 
Debt reserve fund - deposits (note 6) 508 508 

1,468,241 1,471,442 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 86,575 156,975 
Post-employment benefits (note 14) 37,395 35,121 
Development cost charges (note 7) 224,655 221,151 
Deposits and holdbacks (note 8) 106,041 97,445 
Deferred revenue (note 9) 56,186 49,024 
Debt, net of MFA sinking fund deposits (note 10) 17,386 22,741 

528,238 582,457 

Net financial assets 940,003 888,985 

Non-Financial Assets 

Tangible capital assets (note 11) 2,539,267 2,488,139 
Inventory of materials and supplies 4,696 4,285 
Prepaid expenses 3,921 2,797 

2,547,884 2,495,221 

Accumulated surplus (note 12) $ 3,487,887 $ 3,384,206 

Contingent demand notes (note 6) 
Commitments and contingencies (note 17) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

General Manager, Finance and Corporate Services 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Operations 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 

2021 
Budget 2021 2020 

(notes 2(p) 
and 23) 

Revenue: 
Taxation and levies (note 19) $ 255,366 $ 255,837 $ 239,991 
Utility fees 117,674 118,144 114,335 
Sales of services 40,000 35,601 29,090 
Payments-in-lieu of taxes 12,142 14,789 16,820 
Provincial and federal contributions 10,855 12,704 16,953 
Development cost charges (note 7) 24,669 16,223 16,737 
Other capital funding sources 75,943 64,695 71,051 
Other revenue: 

Investment income 13,290 14,968 20,175 
Gaming revenue 5,700 2,705 
Licenses and permits 11,403 13,995 19,407 
Other (note 20) 12,808 23,131 30,466 
Equity income in LIEC (note 4) 1,538 911 1,322 

575,688 576,698 579,052 

Expenses: 
Community safety 127,108 123,232 112,895 
Utilities: water, sewer and sanitation 109,787 106,519 102,824 
Engineering, public works and project 

development 82,833 80,083 75,314 
Community services 73,610 59,873 50,833 
General government 63,976 54,249 51,495 
Planning and development 24,409 25,166 19,201 
Richmond Olympic Oval 14,844 14,079 12,586 
Richmond Public Library 11,198 9,816 9,040 

507,765 473,017 434,188 

Annual surplus 67,923 103,681 144,864 

Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 3,384,206 3,384,206 3,239,342 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 3,452,129 $ 3,487,887 $ 3,384,206 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 

2021 
Budget 2021 2020 

(notes 2(p) 
and 23) 

Annual surplus for the year $ 67,923 $ 103,681 $ 144,864 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (106,483) (61,150) (70,726) 
Contributed tangible capital assets (61,479) (61,004) (58,240) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 67,458 68,519 66,254 
Net loss (gain) on disposal of tangible 

capital assets 1,714 (6,136) 
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets 793 8,507 

(32,581) 52,553 84,523 

Acquisition of inventory of materials and supplies (4,696) (4,285) 
Acquisition of prepaid expenses (3,921) (2,797) 
Consumption of inventory of materials and supplies 4,285 2,961 
Use of prepaid expenses 2,797 2,714 

Change in net financial assets (32,581) 51,018 83,116 

Net financial assets, beginning of year 888,985 888,985 805,869 

Net financial assets, end of year $ 856,404 $ 940,003 $ 888,985 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021, with comparative information for 2020 

2021 2020 

Cash provided by (used in): 

Operating activities: 
Annual surplus $ 103,681 $ 144,864 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 68,519 66,254 
Net loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital assets 1,714 (6,136) 
Contributions of tangible capital assets (61,004) (58,240) 
Equity income in LIEC (911) (1,322) 

Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 
Accrued interest receivable 765 (1,916) 
Accounts receivable (8,134) 6,886 
Taxes receivable 262 (3,386) 
Development fees receivable 16,092 (7,373) 
Inventory of materials and supplies (411) (1,324) 
Prepaid expenses (1,124) (83) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (70,400) 83,572 
Post-employment benefits 2,274 934 
Development cost charges 3,504 23,480 
Deposits and holdbacks 8,596 (19,919) 
Deferred revenue 7,162 (15,338) 

Net change in cash from operating activities 70,585 210,953 

Capital activities: 
Cash used to acquire tangible capital assets (61,150) (70,726) 
Proceeds on disposal of tangible capital assets 793 8,507 

Net change in cash from capital activities (60,357) (62,219) 

Financing activities: 
Repayments of debt (5,355) (5,150) 

Investing activities: 
Net sale (purchase) of investments 137,124 (3,114) 

Net change in cash 141,997 140,470 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 530,034 389,564 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 672,031 $ 530,034 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 24 

FIN - 35



City of Richmond audited financial statements 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

1. Operations: 

The City of Richmond (the "City") is incorporated under the Local Government Act of British 
Columbia. The City's principal activities include the provision of local government services to 
residents of the incorporated area. These include administrative, protective, transportation, 
infrastructure, environmental, recreational, water, sewer, and drainage. 

In March 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak was declared a pandemic by the World Health 
Organization. This resulted in governments worldwide, including the Canadian federal and 
provincial governments enacting emergency measures to combat the spread of the virus. The 
economic conditions and the City's response to the pandemic had a material impact on the City's 
operating results and financial position in 2020 and continued in 2021 affecting both revenues 
and expenses. The City temporarily closed civic facilities, including recreation and community 
centres, managed workforce challenges, including the implementation of systems and processes 
to facilitate remote work, and workforce adjustments, such as delayed hiring, reallocation of staff 
resources and temporary layoffs. The primary impact was on parks, recreation and facilities. The 
situation is still dynamic and the ultimate duration and magnitude of the impact on the economy 
and the financial effect on the City is not known at this time. 

2. Significant accounting policies: 

The consolidated financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting standards as prescribed by the Public Sector Accounting 
Board ("PSAB") of the Chartered Professional Accountants Canada. 

(a) Basis of consolidation: 

The consolidated financial statements reflect a combination of the City's General Revenue, 
General Capital and Loan, Waterworks and Sewerworks, and Reserve Funds consolidated 
with the Richmond Public Library (the "Library") and the Richmond Olympic Oval (the "Oval"). 
The Library is consolidated as the Library Board is appointed by the City. The Oval is 
consolidated as they are a wholly owned municipal corporation of the City. lnterfund 
transactions, fund balances and activities have been eliminated on consolidation. The City's 
investment in Lulu Island Energy Company ("LIEC"), a wholly owned government business 
enterprise ("GBE"), is accounted for using the modified equity method. 

(i) General Revenue Fund: 

This fund is used to account for the current operations of the City as provided for in the 
Annual Budget, including collection of taxes, administering operations, policing, and 
servicing general debt. 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 25 

FIN - 36



City of Richmond audited financial statements 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(a) Basis of consolidation (continued): 

(ii) General Capital and Loan Fund: 

This fund is used to record the City's tangible capital assets and work-in-progress, 
including engineering structures such as roads and bridges, and the related debt. 

(iii) Waterworks and Sewerworks Funds: 

These funds have been established to cover the costs of operating these utilities, with 
related capital and loan funds to record the related tangible capital assets and debt. 

(iv) Reserve Funds: 

Certain funds are established by bylaws for specific purposes. They are funded primarily 
by budgeted contributions from the General Revenue Fund and developer contributions 
plus interest earned on fund balances. 

(b) Basis of accounting: 

The City follows the accrual method of accounting for revenue and expenses. Revenue is 
recognized in the year in which it is earned and measurable. Expenses are recognized as 
they are incurred and measurable as a result of receipt of goods and services and/or the 
creation of a legal obligation to pay. 

(c) Government transfers: 

Restricted transfers from governments are deferred and recognized as revenue as the 
related expenditures are incurred or the stipulations in the related agreement are met. 
Unrestricted transfers are recognized as revenue when received or if the amount to be 
received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

(d) Cash and cash equivalents: 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, highly liquid money market investments and 
short-term investments with maturities of less than 90 days from date of acquisition. 

(e) Investments: 

Investments are recorded at cost, adjusted for amortization of premiums or discounts. 
Provisions for losses are recorded when they are considered to be other than temporary. 

(f) Investment in government business enterprises: 

Government business enterprises are recorded using the modified equity method of 
accounting. The City's investment in the GBE is recorded as the value of the GBE's 
shareholder's equity. The investment's income or loss is recognized by the City when it is 
earned by the GBE. Inter-organizational transactions and balances are not eliminated, except 
for any gains or losses on assets remaining within the City. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(g) Accounts receivable: 

Accounts receivable are net of an allowance for doubtful accounts and therefore represent 

amounts expected to be collected. 

(h) Development cost charges: 

Development cost charges are restricted by legislation to expenditures on capital 

infrastructure. These amounts are deferred upon receipt and recognized as revenue when 

the expenditures are incurred in accordance with the restrictions. 

(i) Post-employment benefits: 

The City and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan. As this plan is 

a multi-employee plan, contributions are expensed as incurred. 

Post-employment benefits also accrue to the City's employees. The liabilities related to these 

benefits are actuarially determined based on service and best estimates of retirement ages 

and expected future salary and wage increases. The liabilities under these benefits plans are 

accrued based on projected benefits prorated as employees render services necessary to 

earn the future benefits. 

U) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in 

the provision of services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current year and are 

not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are initially recorded at cost, which includes amounts that are 

directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development, or betterment of the assets. 

The cost, less estimated residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, are 

amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Asset 

Buildings and building improvements 
Infrastructure 
Vehicles, machinery and equipment 
Library's collections, furniture and equipment 

Useful life - years 

10 - 75 
5 - 100 

3 -40 
4 - 20 

Amortization is charged over the asset's useful life commencing when the asset is 

acquired. Assets under construction are not amortized until the asset is available for 
productive use. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

U) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(ii) Contributions of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the 
date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue. 

(iii) Natural resources, works of art, and cultural and historic assets: 

Natural resources, works of art, and cultural and historic assets are not recorded as 
assets in the consolidated financial statements. 

(iv) Interest capitalization: 

The City does not capitalize interest costs associated with the construction of a tangible 
capital asset. 

(v) Labour capitalization: 

Internal labour directly attributable to the construction, development or implementation of 
a tangible capital asset is capitalized. 

(vi) Leased tangible capital assets: 

Leases which transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of 

property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are 
accounted for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as 
incurred. 

(vii) Impairment of tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer 

contribute to the City's ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future 
economic benefits associated with the tangible capital assets are less than their net 
book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the consolidated 
statement of operations. 

(viii) Inventory of materials and supplies: 

Inventory is recorded at cost, net of an allowance for obsolete stock. Cost is determined 
on a weighted average basis. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(k) Revenue recognition: 

Revenue is recognized in the period in which the transactions or events occurred that gave 
rise to the revenue. All revenue is recorded on an accrual basis, except when the accruals 
cannot be determined with a reasonable degree of certainty or when their estimation is 
impractical. 

The City is required to act as the agent for the collection of certain taxes and fees imposed by 
other authorities. Collections for other authorities are excluded from the City's taxation 
revenue. 

(I) Property taxes: 

The City establishes property tax rates based on assessed market values provided by the 
British Columbia Assessment Authority (BCA). Market values are determined as of July 1st of 
each year. The City records taxation revenue at the time the property tax bills are issued. The 
City is entitled to collect interest and penalties on overdue taxes. 

(m) Deferred revenue: 

The City defers a portion of the revenue collected from permits, licenses and other fees and 
recognizes this revenue in the year in which related inspections are performed, other related 
expenses are incurred or services are provided. 

Deferred revenue also represents funds received from external parties for specified 
purposes. This revenue is recognized in the period in which the related expenses are 
incurred. 

(n) Deposits: 

Receipts restricted by the legislation of senior governments or by agreement with external 
parties are deferred and reported as deposits and are refundable under certain 
circumstances. When qualifying expenses are incurred, deposits are recognized as revenue 
at amounts equal to the qualifying expenses. 

(o) Debt: 

Debt is recorded net of related sinking fund balances. 

(p) Budget information: 

Budget information, presented on a basis consistent with that used for actual results, was 
included in the City's Consolidated 5 Year Financial Plan (2021-2025) ("Consolidated 
Financial Plan") and was adopted through Bylaw No. 10239 on March 22, 2021. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(q) Contaminated sites: 

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water, or 
sediment of a chemical, organic or radioactive material of live organism that exceeds an 
environmental standard. Liabilities are recorded net of any expected recoveries. 

A liability for remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when a site is not in productive 
use and the following criteria are met: 

(i) An environmental standard exists; 

(ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 

(iii) The City is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; 

(iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 

(v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The liability is recognized as management's estimate of the cost of post-remediation including 
operation, maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the remediation strategy 
for a contaminated site. 

(r) Use of accounting estimates: 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial 
statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenditures during the reporting period. 
Areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to performing the actuarial valuation 
of employee future benefits, the value of contributed tangible capital assets, value of 
developer contributions, useful lives for amortization, determination of provisions for accrued 
liabilities, performing the actuarial valuation of employee future benefits, allowance for 
doubtful accounts, and provision for contingencies. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates. Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the consolidated financial statements in the 
period that the change in estimate is made, as well as in the period of settlement if the 
amount is different. 

(s) Segment disclosures: 

A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for 
which it is appropriate to separately report financial information to achieve the objectives of 
the standard. The City has provided definitions of segments as well as presented financial 
information in segment format. 
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Year ended December 31, 2021 

3. 

4. 

Investments: 

2021 2020 
Market Market 

Cost value Cost value 

Short-term notes and deposits $ 257,701 $ 257,701 $ 339,607 $ 339,695 
Government and government 

guaranteed bonds 280,063 280,802 326,838 334,579 
Other bonds 159,122 159,283 167,565 171,729 

$ 696,886 $ 697,786 $ 834,010 $ 846,003 

Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd: 

The City owns 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of LIEC, which was incorporated 

under the British Columbia Business Corporations Act on August 19, 2013. LIEC develops, 
manages and operates district energy utilities in the City of Richmond, on the City's behalf, 
including but not limited to energy production, generation or exchange, transmission, distribution, 
maintenance, marketing and sales to customers, customer service, profit generation, financial 
management and advisory services for energy and infrastructure. 

Summarized financial information relating to LIEC is as follows: 

Cash, cash equivalents, and investments $ 
Accounts receivable 
Tangible capital assets 

Total assets 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
Deferred contributions 
Concession liability 

Total liabilities 

Shareholder's equity $ 

Total revenue $ 
Total expenses 

Net income $ 

2021 

15,755 
1,676 

39,203 

56,634 

2,672 
8,051 

12,264 

22,987 

33,647 

6,431 
5,520 

911 

2020 

$ 12,619 
3,034 

37,360 

53,013 

1,792 
7,352 

11,133 

20,277 

$ 32,736 

$ 5,591 
4,269 

$ 1,322 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

4. Investment in Lulu Island Energy Company Ltd (continued): 

5. 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities in the City's consolidated statement of 
financial position are payables to LIEC in the amount of $151,454 (2020 - $323,020). 

On October 30, 2014, LIEC and the Oval Village district energy utility developer ("the 
Concessionaire") entered into a 30-year Concession Agreement, which is a public-private 
partnership project ("P3"), where the Concessionaire will design, construct, finance, operate, and 
maintain the infrastructure for the district energy utility at the Oval Village community. As part of 
the Agreement, the infrastructure will be owned by LIEC. 

On October 30, 2014, the Concessionaire and the City entered into a Limited Guarantee 
Agreement. The City is the Guarantor and guarantees the performance of some of LIEC's 
obligations under the Concession Agreement to a maximum of $18.2 million (2020 - $18.2 
million). 

Accounts receivable: 

2021 2020 

Water and sewer utilities $ 13,243 $ 11,760 
Casino revenue 2,701 
Capital grants 6,873 4,278 
Other trade receivables 6,838 5,483 

$ 29,655 $ 21,521 

6. Debt reserve fund deposits and contingent demand notes: 

The City issues its debt instruments through the Municipal Finance Authority (the "MFA"). As a 
condition of these borrowings, a portion of the debenture proceeds is withheld by the MFA in a 
Debt Reserve Fund. The City also executes demand notes in connection with each debenture 
whereby the City may be required to loan certain amounts to the MFA. These demand notes are 
contingent in nature and are not reflected in the City's accounts. The details of the cash deposits 
and contingent demand notes at December 31, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

General Revenue Fund 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

7. Development cost charges: 

Balance, beginning of year 
Contributions 
Interest 
Revenue recognized 

Balance, end of year 

8. Deposits and holdbacks: 

Balance Deposit 
December 31, contributions/ 

2020 interest earned 

Security deposits $ 74,977 $ 136,664 
Developer contributions 7,797 130 
Damage deposits 5,589 6,513 
Contract holdbacks 5,267 4,916 
Other 3,815 1,183 

$ 97,445 $ 149,406 

9. Deferred revenue: 

Balance Externally 
December 31, restricted 

2020 inflows 

Taxes and utilities $ 23,221 $ 25,116 
Building permits/development 14,117 6,846 
Oval 1,216 325 
Capital grants 2,219 7,546 
Business licenses 2,603 2,262 
Parking easement/leased land 2,431 36 
Other 3,217 312 

$ 49,024 $ 42,443 
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2021 2020 

$ 221,151 $ 197,671 
16,873 36,800 
2,854 3,417 

(16,223) (16,737) 

$ 224,655 $ 221,151 

Balance 
Refund/ December 31, 

expenditures 2021 

$ (127,545) $ 84,096 
(15) 7,912 

(6,309) 5,793 
(6,323) 3,860 

(618) 4,380 

$ (140,810) $ 106,041 

Balance 
Revenue December 31, 

earned 2021 

$ (23,221) $ 25,116 
(6,698) 14,265 

10 1,551 
(3,691) 6,074 
(2,228) 2,637 

(49) 2,418 
596 4,125 

$ (35,281) $ 56,186 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

10. Debt, net of MFA sinking fund deposits: 

City of Richmond audited financial statements 

The interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2021 on the principal amount of the MFA 

debenture was 3.30% (2020 - 3.30%) per annum. Interest expense incurred for the year on the 
long-term debt was $1,676,895_(2020 - $1,676,895). The maturity date of the MFA debt is April 7, 

2024. 

The City obtains debt instruments through the MFA pursuant to security issuing bylaws under 

authority of the Community Charter to finance certain capital expenditures. 

Gross amount for the debt less principal payments and actuarial adjustments to date are as 

follows: 

General Fund 

Gross 
amount 

borrowed 

$ 50,815 

Repayments 
and actuarial 
adjustments 

$ 33,429 

Net debt 
2021 

$ 17,386 

Repayments on net outstanding debt over the next four years are as follows: 

2022 
2023 
2024 

Net debt 
2020 

$ 22,741 

$ 5,570 
5,792 
6,024 

$ 17,386 
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(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

11. Tangible capital assets: 

Balance 
December 31, 

Cost 2020 

Land $ 1,060,180 $ 
Building and building 

improvements 552,624 
Infrastructure 1,834,488 
Vehicles, machinery and 

equipment 158,164 
Library's collections, 

furniture and equipment 9,945 
Assets under construction 83,592 

$ 3,698,993 $ 

Balance 
December 31, 

Accumulated amortization 2020 

Building and building 
improvements $ 217,342 $ 

Infrastructure 884,269 
Vehicles, machinery and 

equipment 102,159 
Library's collections, 

furniture and equipment 7,084 

$ 1,210,854 $ 

Net book value 

Land 
Buildings and building improvements 
Infrastructure 
Vehicles, machinery and equipment 
Library's collection, furniture and equipment 
Assets under construction 

Balance, end of year 
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and 

transfers 

17,074 

33,162 
83,814 

9,851 

1,155 
(22,902) 

122,154 

Disposals 

(7,225) 
(5,352) 

(1,758) 

(390) 

(14,725) 
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Balance 
December 31, 

Disposals 2021 

$ $ 1,077,254 

(9,034) 576,752 
(5,924) 1,912,378 

(1,884) 166,131 

(390) 10,710 
60,690 

$ (17,232) $ 3,803,915 

Balance 
Amortization December 31 , 

expense 2021 

$ 19,316 $ 229,433 
37,428 916,345 

10,815 111,216 

960 7,654 

$ 68,519 $ 1,264,648 

December 31, December 31, 
2021 2020 

$ 1,077,254 $ 1,060,180 
347,319 335,282 
996,033 950,219 

54,915 56,005 
3,056 2,861 

60,690 83,592 

$ 2,539,267 $ 2,488,139 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

11. Tangible capital assets (continued): 

(a) Assets under construction: 

Assets under construction having a value of $60,690,017 (2020 - $83,592,534) have not 
been amortized. Amortization of these assets will commence when the asset is put into 
service. 

(b) Contributed tangible capital assets: 

Contributed tangible capital assets have been recognized at fair market value at the date of 
contribution and recorded in other capital funding revenue on the statement of operations. 
The value of contributed assets received during the year is $61,004,232 (2020 - $58,239,544) 
comprised of land in the amount of $17,281,008 (2020 - $38,682,057), infrastructure in the 
amount of $20,810,489 (2020 - $16,979,272), buildings in the amount of $22,682,598 (2020 -
$2,578,215), and machinery in the amount of $230,137 (2020 - nil). 

(c) Tangible capital assets disclosed at nominal values: 

Where an estimate of fair value could not be made, the tangible capital asset was recognized 
at a nominal value. 

(d) Works of art and historical treasures: 

The City manages and controls various works of art and non-operational historical cultural 
assets including building, artifacts, paintings, and sculptures located at City sites and public 
display areas. The assets are not recorded as tangible capital assets and are not amortized. 

(e) Write-down of tangible capital assets: 

There were no write-down of tangible capital assets in 2021 (2020 - nil). 

12. Accumulated surplus: 

General 
and Richmond 

Reserve Waterworks Sewerworks Olympic 
Funds Utilit}'. Fund Utilit}'. Fund Oval Libra~ 2021 Total 2020 Total 

Investment in 
tangible capital $2,510,069 $ $ $ 8,503 $ 3,057 $2,521,629 $2,465,108 
assets 

Reserves (note 13) 639,109 8,100 647,209 609,533 
Appropriated surplus 223,365 18,508 9,981 1,559 2,607 256,020 253,790 
Investment in LIEC 33,647 33,647 32,736 
Surplus 16,181 408 6,295 606 1,336 24,826 18,908 
Other equity 4,556 4,556 4,131 

Balance, end of lear $3,426,927 $ 18,916 $ 16,276 $ 18,768 $ 7,000 $3,487,887 $3,384,206 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

13. Reserves: 

Balance, 
December 31, 

2020 

Affordable housing $ 12,250 
Arts, culture and heritage 3,721 
Capital building and infrastructure 111,528 
Capital reserve 222,778 
Capstan station 11,477 
Child care development 10,055 
Community legacy and land replacement 1,387 
Drainage improvement 60,597 
Equipment replacement 22,577 
Hamilton area plan community amenity 2,762 
Leisure facilities 18,097 
Local improvements 7,459 
Neighborhood improvement 7,919 
Oval 7,810 
Public art program 4,582 
Sanitary sewer 48,903 
Steveston off-street parking 331 
Steveston road ends 153 
Waterfront improvement 195 
Watermain replacement 54,952 

$ 609,533 

14. Post-employment benefits: 
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Balance, 
Change December 31, 

during year 2021 

$ 2,043 $ 14,293 
(195) 3,526 

11,192 122,720 
21,667 244,445 

(328) 11,149 
23 10,078 
71 1,458 

(3,438) 57,159 
2,629 25,206 

245 3,007 
873 18,970 
112 7,571 
118 8,037 
290 8,100 

(177) 4,405 
708 49,611 

5 336 
2 155 

(8) 187 
1,844 56,796 

$ 37,676 $ 647,209 

The City provides certain post-employment benefits, non-vested sick leave, compensated 

absences, and termination benefits to its employees. 

2021 2020 

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 35,414 $ 35,184 
Current service cost 2,644 2,446 
Interest cost 728 853 
Past service cost 992 
Benefits paid (2,035) (2,262) 
Actuarial gain (2,419) (807) 

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year $ 35,324 $ 35,414 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

14. Post-employment benefits (continued): 

An actuarial valuation for these benefits was performed to determine the City's accrued benefit 
obligation as at December 31, 2020. This actuarial loss is being amortized over a period equal to 

the employees' expected average remaining service lifetime of 11 years. 

Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 
Unamortized net actuarial gain (loss) 

Accrued benefit liability, end of year 

2021 

$ 35,324 
2,071 

$ 37,395 

2020 

$ 35,414 
(293) 

$ 35,121 

Actuarial assumptions used to determine the City's accrued benefit obligation are as follows: 

Discount rate 
Expected future inflation rate 
Expected wage and salary range increases 

15. Pension plan: 

2021 

2.40% 
2.00% 

2.50% to 3.00% 

2020 

2.00% 
2.00% 

2.50% to 3.00% 

The City and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension 
plan). The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for 
administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is 
a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As 

at December 31, 2020, the plan has about 220,000 active members and approximately 112,000 
retired members. Active members include approximately 42,000 contributors from local 
governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan 
and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and 

member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary's calculated contribution rate is based on 

the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer 
contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may 
be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the 

amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

15. Pension plan (continued): 

The most recent valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2018, indicated a 
$2,866 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 

The City paid $14,125,356 (2020 - $13,343,310) for employer contributions while employees 
contributed $11 , 777,413 (2020 - $11 , 199,779) to the plan in fiscal 2021 . 

The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2021, with results available in 2022. 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer 
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, 
resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to 
individual employers participating in the plan. 

16. Contingent assets and contractual rights: 

(a) Contingent assets: 

Contingent assets are possible assets arising from existing conditions or situations involving 
uncertainty. That uncertainty will ultimately be resolved when one or more future events not 
wholly within the City's control occurs or fails to occur. 

The City has legal claims, service agreements, and land dedications that may qualify as 
contingent assets. Amounts cannot be estimated as of December 31, 2021. Contingent 
assets are not recorded in the consolidated financial statements. 

(b) Contractual rights: 

The City has entered into contracts or agreements in the normal course of operations that it 
expects will result in revenue and assets in future fiscal years. The City's contractual rights 
are comprised of leases, licenses, grants and various other agreements, including the 
provision of police services with the Vancouver Airport Authority. The following table 
summarizes the expected revenue from the City's contractual rights: 

2022 $ 27,333 
2023 11,110 
2024 3,671 
2025 2,393 
2026 401 
Thereafter 7,988 

The City is entitled to receive revenue from certain other agreements. The revenue from 
these agreements cannot be quantified and has not been included in the amounts noted 
above. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

17. Commitments and contingencies: 

(a) Joint and several liabilities: 

The City has a contingent liability with respect to debentures of the Greater Vancouver Water 

District, Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District and Metro Vancouver Regional 
District, to the extent provided for in their respective Enabling Acts, Acts of Incorporation and 
Amending Acts. Management does not consider payment under this contingency to be likely 

and therefore no amounts have been accrued. 

(b) Lease payments: 

The City is committed to operating lease payments for premises and equipment in the 
following approximate amounts: 

2022 
2023 
2024 
2025 
2026 and thereafter 

(c) Litigation: 

$ 2,670 
2,657 
2,487 
2,487 
3,542 

As at December 31, 2021, there were a number of claims or risk exposures in various stages 

of resolution. The City has made no specific provision for those where the outcome is 

presently not determinable. 

(d) Municipal Insurance Association of British Columbia ("Association"): 

The City is a participant in the Association. Should the Association pay out claims in excess 

of premiums received, it is possible that the City, along with other participants, would be 
required to contribute towards the deficit. Management does not consider external payment 
under this contingency to be likely and therefore, no amounts have been accrued. 

(e) Contractual obligation: 

The City has entered into various contracts for services and construction with periods ranging 
beyond one year. These commitments are in accordance with budgets passed by Council. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

17. Commitments and contingencies (continued): 

(f) E-Comm Emergency Communications for Southwest British Columbia Incorporated 
("E- Comm"): 

The City is a shareholder of the E-Comm whose services provided include: regional 9-1-1 call 
centre for the Greater Vancouver Regional District; Wide Area Radio network; dispatch 
operations; and records management. The City has 2 Class A shares and 1 Class B share (of 
a total of 36 Class A and 19 Class B shares issued and outstanding as at December 31, 
2021 ). As a Class A shareholder, the City shares in both funding the future operations and 

capital obligations of E-Comm (in accordance with a cost sharing formula), including any 
lease obligations committed to by E-Comm up to the shareholder's withdrawal date. 

(g) Community associations: 

The City has agreements with the various community associations which operate the 
community centers throughout the City. The City generally provides the buildings and 

grounds, pays the operating costs of the facilities, and provides certain staff and other 
services such as information technology. Typically the community associations are 
responsible for providing programming and services to the community. The community 
associations retain all revenue which they receive. 

18. Trust funds: 

Certain assets have been conveyed or assigned to the City to be administered as directed by 
agreement or statute. The City holds the assets for the benefit of and stands in fiduciary 
relationship to the beneficiary. The following trust fund is excluded from the City's consolidated 
financial statements. 

2021 2020 

Richmond Community Associations $ 1,928 $ 1,909 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

19. Taxation and levies: 

Taxes collected: 
Property taxes 
Payment-in-lieu of taxes and grants 
Local improvement levies 

Less transfers to other authorities: 
Province of British Columbia - School taxes 
Translink 
Metro Vancouver 
BC Assessment Authority 
Other 

Less payment-in-lieu of taxes retained by the City 

20. Other revenue: 

Developer contributions 
Tangible capital assets gain on sale of land 
Penalties and fines 
Parking program 
Other 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 
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2021 2020 

$ 496,172 $ 413,302 
24,326 22,375 

84 88 

520,582 435,765 

(192,631) (123,333) 
(42,926) (41,992) 

(8,029) (7,267) 
(6,297) (6,286) 

(30) (29) 

(249,913) (178,907) 

(14,832) (16,867) 

$ 255,837 $ 239,991 

2021 2020 

$ 6,580 $ 9,044 
722 6,513 

4,210 3,180 
1,343 1,204 

10,276 10,525 

$ 23,131 $ 30,466 
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City of Richmond audited financial statements 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

21. Government transfers: 

Government transfers are received for operating and capital activities. The operating transfers 
consist of gaming revenue and provincial and federal contributions. Capital transfers are included 
in other capital funding sources revenue. The source of the government transfers are as follows: 

2021 2020 

Operating 
Province of British Columbia $ 12,590 $ 17,534 
Translink 3,815 546 
Government of Canada 1,999 1,579 

Capital 
Province of British Columbia 6,069 9,965 
Translink 2,947 2,125 
Government of Canada 567 

$ 27,987 $ 31,749 

22. Segmented reporting: 

The City provides a wide variety of services to its residents. For segment disclosure, these 
services are grouped and reported under service areas/departments that are responsible for 
providing such services. They are as follows: 

(a) Community Safety brings together the City's public safety providers such as Police (RCMP), 
Fire-Rescue, Emergency Programs, and Community Bylaws. It is responsible for ensuring 
safe communities by providing protection services with a focus on law enforcement, crime 
prevention, emergency response, and protection of life and properties. 

(b) Utilities provide such services as planning, designing, constructing, operating, and 
maintaining the City's infrastructure of water, sewer, drainage and diking networks and 
sanitation and recycling. 

(c) Engineering, Public Works and Project Development comprises of General Public Works, 
Roads and Construction, Storm Drainage, Fleet Operations, Engineering, Project 
Development, and Facility Management. The services provided are construction and 
maintenance of the City's infrastructure and all City owned buildings, maintenance of the 
City's road networks, managing and operating a mixed fleet of vehicles, heavy equipment 
and an assortment of specialized work units for the City operations, development of current 
and long-range engineering planning and construction of major projects. 
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City of Richmond audited financial statements 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

22. Segmented reporting (continued): 

(d) Community Services comprises of Parks, Recreation, Arts, and Culture and Heritage 
Services. These departments ensure recreation opportunities in Richmond by maintaining a 
variety of facilities such as arenas, community centres, pools, etc. It designs, constructs and 
maintains parks and sports fields to ensure there is adequate open green space and sports 
fields available for Richmond residents. It also addresses the economic, arts, culture, and 
community issues that the City encounters. 

(e) General Government comprises of Mayor and Council, Corporate Administration, and 
Finance and Corporate Services. It is responsible for adopting bylaws, effectively 
administering city operations, levying taxes, legal services, providing sound management of 
human resources, information technology, City finance, and ensuring high quality services to 
Richmond residents. 

(f) Planning and Development is responsible for land use plans, developing bylaws and 
policies for sustainable development in the City including the City's transportation systems, 
and community social development. 

(g) Richmond Olympic Oval Corporation is formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of the City. 
The City uses the Richmond Olympic Oval facility as a venue for a wide range of sports, 
business and community activities. 

(h) Richmond Public Library provides public access to information by maintaining 5 branches 
throughout the City. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

22. Segmented reporting (continued): 

Engineering, 
public works 

Community and project 
safe~ Utilities develoement 

Revenue: 

Taxation and levies $ $ $ 
User fees 104,864 13,280 
Sales of services 6,294 2,577 2,169 
Payments-in-lieu of taxes 
Provincial and federal grants 103 15 4,103 
Development cost charges 795 4,801 

Other capital funding sources 5,754 12,816 
Other revenue: 

Investment income 272 
Gaming revenue 
Licenses and permits 4,429 32 588 
Other 2,239 3,774 953 
Equity income 

13,066 118,083 38,710 

Expenses: 

Wages and salaries 50,092 14,609 27,679 
Public works maintenance 31 6,707 4,906 
Contract services 66,373 9,840 4,547 

Supplies and materials 3,028 37,317 1,226 

Interest and finance 91 27,494 10 
Transfer from (to) capital for (54) 1,909 9,438 

tangible capital assets 
Amortization of tangible 3,025 8,626 31,645 
capital assets 
Loss (gain) on disposal of 646 17 632 

tangible caQital assets 
123,232 106,519 80,083 

Annual surelus jdeficit! $ p 10, 166l $ 11,564 $ (41,373l 
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Community General Planning and Total City 
services government develoement subtotal 

$ $ 255,837 $ $ 255,837 
118,144 

7,630 9,365 2,091 30,126 
14,789 14,789 

49 4,044 85 8,399 
3,319 2,202 5,106 16,223 
2,054 17,281 26,789 64,695 

14,682 14,954 
5,700 5,700 

47 8,899 13,995 
626 13,952 260 21,804 

911 
911 

13,678 338,810 43,230 565,577 

30,710 29,025 12,447 164,562 
2,038 (1,473) 788 12,997 
2,166 3,910 1,923 88,759 

10,194 9,821 1,008 62,594 
123 2,576 2 30,296 

3,383 758 6,206 21,640 

10,249 9,517 2,758 65,820 

1,010 115 34 2,454 

59,873 54,249 25,166 449,122 

$ (46,195l $ 284,561 $ 18,064 $ 116,455 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

22. Segmented reporting (continued): 

Total City 
subtotal 

Revenue: 

Taxation and levies $ 255,837 
User fees 118,144 
Sales of services 30,126 
Payments-in-lieu of taxes 14,789 
Provincial and federal grants 8,399 
Development cost charges 16,223 
Other capital funding sources 64,695 
Other revenue: 

Investment income 14,954 
Gaming revenue 5,700 
Licenses and permits 13,995 

Other 21,804 
E uit income 911 

565,577 

Expenses: 

Wages and salaries 164,562 
Public works maintenance 12,997 
Contract services 88,759 
Supplies and materials 62,594 
Interest and finance 30,296 
Transfer from (to) capital for 
tangible capital assets 21,640 

Amortization of tangible capital 
assets 65,820 

Loss (gain) on disposal of 
tangible ca~ital assets 2,454 

449,122 

Annual surelus jdeficitl $ 116,455 
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Richmond Richmond 
Public Olympic 2021 2020 

Libra~ Oval Consolidated Consolidated 

$ $ $ 255,837 $ 239,991 
118,144 114,335 

16 5,459 35,601 29,090 
14,789 16,820 

377 3,928 12,704 16,953 
16,223 16,737 
64,695 71,051 

14 14,968 20,175 
5,700 2,705 

13,995 19,407 
191 1,136 23,131 30,466 

911 1,322 
598 10,523 576,698 579,052 

7,156 8,789 180,507 164,788 
19 13,016 13,343 

327 89,086 81,642 
1,911 3,551 68,056 64,437 

5 30,301 29,779 

(544) 21,096 13,568 

960 1,739 68,519 66,254 

(18) 2,436 377 
9,816 14,079 473,017 434,188 

$ !9,218! $ !3,556! $ 103,681 $ 144,864 
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City of Richmond audited financial statements 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

23. Budget data: 

The budget data presented in these consolidated financial statements is based on the 
Consolidated Financial Plan adopted by Council on March 22, 2021. The table below reconciles 

the adopted Consolidated Financial Plan to the budget amounts reported in these consolidated 

financial statements. 

Consolidated financial plan: 
Revenue 
Expenses 

Annual surplus 

Less: 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets 
Contributed tangible capital assets 
Transfer to reserves 
Debt principal 

Add: 
Capital funding 
Transfer from surplus 

Annual surplus 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 

Financial 
plan 

Bylaw No. 10239 

$ 575,688 

$ 

507,765 

67,923 

(272,899) 
(61,479) 
(64,560) 

(5,355) 

316,724 
19,646 

Financial 
statement 

budget 

$ 575,688 
507,765 

67,923 

$ 67,923 
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City of Richmond audited financial statements 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
Unaudited Statement of Safe Restart Grant 
(Tabular amounts expressed in thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2021 

The Safe Restart Grant was received November 2020 from the Province of British Columbia. A 
requirement of the Safe Restart Grant is to include a schedule to the financial statements presenting 
the amount of funding received, use of funds and year end balance of unused funds. This schedule 
has been included in order to comply with the conditions of the grant. 

2021 2020 

Safe Restart Grant received $ $ 9,331 

Total eligible costs incurred: 
Recreation facility revenue shortfall 3,372 
City grants program 2,613 
Gaming revenue shortfall 1,300 
Other revenue shortfall 1,034 
Equipment technology 1,012 

Balance, end of year $ $ 9,331 
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City of Richmond statistical data 
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City of Richmond population 2012-2021 

201 2 

201 3 

2014 

2015 

2016 

2017 

201 8 

201 9 

2020 

2021 

190,000 200,000 

Numbers were revised for 2019-restated based on BC Stats estimates. 
Source: BC Stats population figures 

Total population by age groups 

85 years and over 

65 to 84 years 

15 to 64 years 

0 to 14 yea rs 

210,000 

67% 

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 

Source: Statistics Canada, 202 1 Census of Population 
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220,000 
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City of Richmond statistica l data 

Immigrant status of Richmond residents by period of immigration 

Non-permanent 
residents 

3% 

Immigrated 
2011 -2016 

8% 

17% 

Source: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census of Population 

Immigrated 
before 1991 

16% 

20% 

Language spoken most often at home 

English , 46% 

Source: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census of Population 
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Other languages, 
16% 
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City of Richmond statistica l data 

Highest level of education attained for the population aged 25 to 64 

University certificate, diploma or degree at bachelor's level or above 

High school certificate or equivalent 

College, CEGEP or other non-university certificate or diploma 

No certificate, diploma or degree 

University certificate or diploma below the bachelor level 

Apprenticeship or trades certificate or diploma 

0% 

Source: Statistics Canada, 2016 Census of Population 

Occupations of Richmond residents 
Sales and service 

Business, finance, administration 

Management 

Education, law and social, community and government 

Trades, transport, equipment operators and related 

Natural and applied sciences and related 

Health 5% 

Art, culture, recreation , sport 3% 

Manufacturing and utilities 3% 

Natural resources, agriculture and related production 

0% 5% 

Source: Statistics Canada, 20 7 6 Census of Population 
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41% 

25% 

17% 

10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 

30% 

19% 

13% 

9% 

9% 

8% 

10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 
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City of Richmond statistical data 

Top 10 largest employers in Richmond (in alphabetical order) 
• Air Canada 
• Allied Universa l 
• Amazon Canada 
• Change Hea lthca re 
• City of Richmond 

• London Drugs 
• MDA Systems 
• River Rock Casino Resort 
• School District No. 38 (Richmond) 
• Vancouver Coasta l Health 

Housing starts in Richmond 2012-2021 

2012 

2013 

2014 

2015 

2016 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000 

Includes only projects for new residential construction receiving final building permit in given year. 
Source. City of Richmond building permit records. 
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City of Richmond statist ica l data 

Richmond housing starts by type of units 2021 

Apart ment 
91 % 

Single fam ily 
6% 

Townhouse 
3% 

Includes only projects for new residential construction receiving final building permit in given year. 
Source: City of Richmond building permit records 

New dwelling units constructed 2012-2021 

3,000 
2,833 

2,500 

2,000 
1,784 1,811 

1,701 1,712 
1,580 

1,500 
1,485 

972 
1,000 

500 

0 
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

• Apartment 1108 2204 1158 1246 863 372 1321 1313 
• Single Family * 343 265 325 368 368 404 284 364 
• Townhouse 129 364 218 170 254 196 107 134 

* Includes one family and two family dwellings. 

Includes only projects for new residential construction receiving final building permit in given year. 
Source: City of Richmond building permit records 
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1,689 

1,358 

2020 2021 
1345 970 
194 201 
150 187 
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City of Ri chmond statist ica l data 

Construction value of building permits issued 2012-2021 (in $000s) 
$1,200,000 

$1 ,000,000 
983,389 981 ,132 

$800,000 

$600,000 

$400,000 

$200 ,000 

$O 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

• Industrial ($000) $26,21 0 $35,560 $20,789 $80,884 $29,115 $65,098 $62,171 $66,189 $76,282 $83,217 

• Commercial ($000) $64,134 $42,268 $63,231 $191,303 $181,952 $90,927 $116,709 $255,823 $86,398 $179,870 

• Residential ($000) $366,356 $601,407 $391,574 $711,202 $504,669 $553,079 $700,419 $659,121 $554,465 $456,015 

Source: City of Richmond building permit records 

Richmond business licences 2017-2021 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000 

Number of valid business licences 

Source: 2021 City of Richmond business licences 
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City of Richmond budgeted capital costs 
2017-2021 (in $000s) 

$250,000 

$200,000 

172,797 

$150,000 

122,659 
119,863 

$100,000 

$50,000 

$0 
2017 2018 2019 

• New Capital $52,140 $102,327 $59,958 

• Replacement Capital $42,564 $54,292 $37,627 

• Other Capital $27,955 $16,178 $22,278 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

Capital program by type 2021 

Building 
program 

51 % 

Land and 
parks prog ram 

21% 

Equipment 
prog1·am 

4% 

Infrastructure 
program 

24% 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 
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222,963 

173,379 

2020 2021 

$89,290 $67,297 

$69,587 $143,263 

$14,502 $12,403 
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Breakdown of residential tax bill 2021 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

BC Assessment 
1% 

/ Translink 

/ 9% 

Metro Vancouver 
2% 

Registration in Richmond Recreation and 
Cultural Services programs 2017-2021 

150,000 146,428 145,841 145,435 

125,000 

100,000 

75,000 

50,000 

25 ,000 

0 
2017 2018 2019 2020* 2021 

* 2020 figure has been restated 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 
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City of Richmond statistical data 

2021 tax rates 
School -

City of Province of Metro BC 
Richmond BC Vancouver Assessment 

Residential 1.85381 1.14900 0.05473 

Business 4.56788 3.86000 0.13409 

Light industrial 4.56788 3.86000 0.18609 

Seasonal/ Recreationa l 1.58020 2.33000 0.05473 

Major industrial 8.36729 1.54400 0.18609 

Farm 15.31813 3.45500 0.05473 

Utilities 39.95085 12.86000 0.19156 

Source. City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

2021 general revenue fund assessment and 
taxation by property class (in $000s) 

% of assessment 
Assessment by class 

Residential $78,838,953 76.84% 

Business 18,856,561 18.38% 

Light industrial 4,286,605 4.18% 

Seasonal/ Recreat ional 213,776 0.21% 

Major industrial 336,999 0.33% 

Farm 26,044 0.02% 

Utilities 41,633 0.04% 

0.04110 

0.11370 

0.11370 

0.04110 

0.47310 

0.04110 

0.47310 

Municipal 
Finance 

Authority 

0.00020 

0.00050 

0.00070 

0.00020 

0.00070 

0.00020 

0.00070 

Taxation 

$146,152 

86,135 

19,581 

338 

2,820 

399 

1,663 

Total $102,600,571 100.00% $257,088 

Amounts are based on billing. 
Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

Taxes levied on behalf of taxing authorities (in $000s) 

2017 2018 2019 2020 

City of Richmond $207,802 $216,908 $231,100 $241,739 

School Board 162,120 169,005 181,863 121,559 

Metro Vancouver 5,216 5,915 6,922 9,145 

BC Assessment 5,517 5,737 5,894 6,008 

Translink 34,380 35,991 38,863 40,189 

Other 23 26 29 116 

Total Taxes $415,058 $433,582 $464,671 $418,756 

Amounts are less supplementary adjustments. 
Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 
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Translink 

0.25860 

0.86900 

0.93930 

0.18880 

1.52540 

0.35630 

2.36290 

% of taxation 
by class 

56.85% 

33.50% 

7.62% 

0.13% 

1.09% 

0.16% 

0.65% 

100.00% 

2021 

$257,088 

186,528 

11,146 

6,088 

41,576 

112 

$502,538 
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City of Richmond stati st ica l data 

2017-2021 general assessment by property class (in $000s) 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Residential $73,414,252 $80,530,838 $84,391, 147 $75,895,923 $78,838,953 

Business 13,093,222 15,848,533 18,964,170 19,613,458 18,856,561 

Light industrial 2,624,855 2,998,757 3,528,011 3,850,127 4,286,605 

Seasonal/ recreational 183,360 200,893 221,291 211,659 213,776 

Major industrial 215,246 204,542 259,457 289,800 336,999 

Farm 26,566 26,297 26,166 26,103 26,044 

Ut ilities 26,541 29,250 35,869 55,674 41,633 

Total $89,584,042 $99,839,110 $107,426,111 $99,942,744 $102,600,571 

Source. City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

Top 10 corporate taxpayers in Richmond 

Port Authority tenants 

YVR tenants 

7904185 Canada Inc 

Bontebok Holdings Ltd 

Vanprop Investments Ltd 

Lafarge Canada Inc 

Montrose Industries Ltd 

Farrell Estates Ltd 

Great Canadian Gaming Corp 

Goodwyn Enterprises (2015) Ltd 

$- $2,000,000 $4,000,000 $6,000,000 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 
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Debt servicing costs compared to general 
taxation revenue 2017-2021 (in $000s) 

2017 2018 

Debt servicing costs 5,909 5,909 

General taxation revenue $206,901 $216,908 

Debt servicing costs as a % of general 2.86% 2.72% 
taxation revenue 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

Liability servicing limit 2017-2021 (in $000s) 

2017 2018 

Liability servicing limit $107,316 $114,285 

2019 

6,628 

$230,198 

2.88% 

2019 

$117,239 

The liability servicing limit is a calculated amount based on 25% of specific munic,pal revenues. 
Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

City of Richmond debt per capita 2017-2021 

2017 

2018 

2019 

2020 

2021 

50.00 100.00 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

Net debt 2017-2021 (in $000s) 

Net debt 

2017 

$37,603 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 
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150.00 

179.00 

2018 

$32,842 

200.00 

2019 

$27,89 1 

City of Richmond statistical data 

2020 

6,826 

$239,991 

2.84% 

2020 

$113,768 

2020 

$22, 741 

2021 

7,032 

$25 5,837 

2.75% 

2021 

$113,663 

2021 

$17,386 
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City of Richmond statisti ca l data 

Expenses by function 2017-2021 (in $000s) 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Community Safety $89,933 $98,500 $106,209 $112,895 $123,232 

Engineering and Public Works 66,120 68, 793 80,940 75,314 80,083 

Community Services 77,387* 63,882 67,522 50,833 59,873 

Genera l government 51,720 52,549 55,689 51,495 54,249 

Ut ilities 87,757 89,959 98,653 102,824 106,519 

Plann ing and Development 15,417 15,368 48,104** 19,201 25,166 

Library serv ices 9,619 9,981 10,601 9,040 14,079 

Richmond Olympic Ova l 15,331 15,424 15,972 12,586 9,816 

Total expenses $41 3,284 $414,456 $483,690 $434, 188 $473,017 

* Includes one-time affordable housing contributions. 
** Includes one-time Translink contribution for Capstan Station. 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

Expenses by object 2017-2021 (in $000s) 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Wages, sa laries and benefits $159,576 $162,331 $177,363 $164,788 $180,507 

Public works maintenance 14,973 13,405 15,299 13,343 13,016 

Contract serv ices 64,912 73,479 79,098 81,642 89,086 

Suppl ies, mater ials 65,959 67,919 68,801 64,437 68,056 

Interest and f inance 23,216 23,149 26,089 29,779 30,301 

Transfer from (to) capita l for 
25,712 13,307 52,244 13,568 21,096 

tangib le capita l assets 

Amortizat ion of tangib le capita l 
58,012 60,542 64,228 66,254 68,519 

assets 

Loss/(gain) on disposa l of 
924 324 568 377 2,436 

tangib le cap ita l assets 

Total expenses $413,284 $414,456 $483,690 $434,188 $473,017 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 
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City of Richmond stat istica l data 

Revenue by source 2017-2021 (in $000s) 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Taxation and levies $206,901 $216,908 $230,198 $239,991 $255,837 

User fees 99,493 102,915 111,472 114,335 118,144 

Sales of services 39,430 39,111 42,747 29,090 35,601 

Licences and permits 13,011 13,637 13,030 19,407 13,995 

Investment income 17,832 20,705 25,142 20,175 14,968 

Grants including casino revenue 40,676 42,681 42,104 16,953 18,404 

Development cost charges 15,710 17,432 13,802 16,737 15,223 

Capital funding 57,570 95,859 39,028 71,051 64,695 

Other 32,544 50,169 64,419 51,313 39,831 

Total revenue $523,167 $599,417 $581 ,942 $579,052 $576,698 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

Accumulated surplus 2017-2021 (in $000s) 

2017* 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Accumulated su rplus, beginning of year $2,846,246 $2,956,129 $3, 141,090 $3,239,342 $3,384,206 

Annual surplus 109,883 184,961 98,252 144,864 103,681 

Accumulated surplus, end of year $2,956,129 $3,141 ,090 $3,239,342 $3,384,206 $3,487,887 

* Opening adjustment for change in accounting treatment for a government business enterprise. 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

Changes in net financial assets 2017-2021 (in $000s) 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Change in net financial assets $3 5,351 $65,031 $42,748 $83,116 $5 1,018 

Net financial assets, end of year $698,090 $763,121 $805,869 $888,985 $940,003 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 
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City of Richmond statistica l data 

Reserves 2017-2021 (in $000s) 

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

Affordable housing $10,168 $10,836 $11,705 $12,250 $14,293 

Arts, culture and heritage 4,183 4,003 3,726 3,721 3,526 

Capital bui lding and 
69,731 81,763 100,686 111,528 122,720 

infrastructure 

Capital reserve 163,599 176,142 171,976 222,778 244,445 

Capstan Station 19,725 32,332 32,318 11,477 11,149 

Child care development 3,006 6,806 8,922 10,055 10,078 

Community legacy and land 
8,623 8,852 1,310 1,387 1,458 

replacement 

Drainage improvement 56,956 56,132 55,645 60,597 57,159 

Equipment rep lacement 22, 168 19,600 20,203 22,577 25,206 

Hami lton area plan community 
735 752 1,720 2, 762 3,007 

amen ity 

Leisure facilities 6,765 18,765 17,676 18,097 18,970 

Local improvements 6,047 7,155 7,327 7,459 7,571 

Neighbourhood improvement 7,100 7,520 7,860 7,919 8,037 

Richmond Olympic Oval 4,749 6,324 8,856 7,810 8,100 

Pub lic art program 3,861 4,860 4,858 4,582 4,405 

Sanitary sewer 42,909 44,107 47,731 48,903 49,611 

Steveston off-street park ing 310 317 325 331 336 

Steveston road ends 21 1 155 150 153 155 

Wat erfront improvement 344 317 202 195 187 

Watermain rep lacement 53,693 53,415 54,380 54,952 56,796 

Tota l reserves $484,883 $540,1 53 $557,576 $609,533 $647,209 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 
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City of Richmond stati st ica l data 

Investment portfolio per type 2020-2021 (in $000s) 
$900,000 

$750,000 

$600,000 

$450,000 

$300,000 

$150,000 

$-

Short-term notes 
and deposits 

• 2020 $339,607 

• 2021 $257,701 

Government and 
Government 
Guaranteed 

Bonds 

$326,838 

$280,063 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

MFA pooled 
investments 

Other bonds 

$167,565 

$159,122 

Ratio analysis indicators of financial condition 

Sustainabi lity ratios 

Assets to liab ili ties (times) 

Financial assets to liabiliti es (times) 

Net debt to total revenues 

Net debt to the tota l assessment 

Expenses to the total assessment 

Flexibility ratios 

Public debt charges to revenues 

Net book va lue of capita l assets t o its cost 

Own source revenue to the assessment 

Vulnerability ratios 

Government transfers to total revenues 

Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 
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2021 

7.6 

2.8 

3.0% 

0.02% 

0.5% 

0.3% 

66.8% 

0.5% 

3.2% 

Total Investments 

$834,010 

$696,886 

2020 

6.8 

2. 5 

3.9% 

0.02% 

0.6% 

0.3% 

67 .3% 

0.5% 

3.4% 
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City of Richmond permissive property tax exemptions 

2021 permissive property tax exemptions 
In accordance w ith Section 98 (2)(b) of the Commun ity Charter, we disclose that the following 
properties were provided permissive property tax exemptions by Richmond City Counci l in 2021. 
Permissive tax exemptions are those exemptions granted by bylaw in accordance w ith Section 224 
of the Community Charter. 

Property/ Organization 

Churches and religious properties 

Aga Khan Foundation Canada 

BC Muslim Associat ion 

Bakerview Gospel Chapel 

Beth Tikvah Congregation 

Bethany Baptist Church 

Brighouse United Church 

Broadmoor Baptist Church 

Canadian Martyrs Parish 

Christian and Missionary All iance 

Christian Reformed Church 

Church in Richmond 

Church of Latter Day Saints 

Cornerstone Evangelical Baptist Chu rch 

Dharma Drum Mountain Buddhist Temple 

Emmanuel Christian Community 

Faith Evangelical Church 

Fraserview Mennonite Brethren Church 

Fujian Evangelical Church 

Gi lmore Park United Church 

I Kuan Tao (Fayi Chungder) Association 

Immanuel Christian Reformed Chu rch 

India Cultural Centre 

International Buddhist Society 

Johrei Fellowship Inc. 

Lansdowne Congregation Jehova h's W itnesses 

Larch St. Gospel Meeting Room 

Ling Yen Mounta in Temple 

Nanaksar Gurdwara Gursikh Temple 

North Richmond A lliance Church 

Ou r Savior Lutheran Church 

Parish of St. Alban's 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report 

Address 

4000 May Drive 

12300 Blundell Road 

8991 Francis Road 

97 11 Geal Road 

22680 Westminster Highway 

81 51 Ben nett Road 

8140 Saunders Road 

577 1 Granville Avenue 

3360 Sexm ith Road 

9280 No. 2 Road 

4460 Brown Road 

8440 Williams Road 

12011 Blundell Road 

8240 No. 5 Road 

10351 No. 1 Road 

11 960 Montego Street 

11 295 Mellis Drive 

12200 Blundell Road 

8060 No. 1 Road 

8866 Od lin Crescent 

7600 No. 4 Road 

8600 No. 5 Road 

9160 Steveston Highway 

10380 Od lin Road 

11014 Westm inster Highway 

8020 No. 5 Road 

1 0060 No. 5 Road 

18691 Westminster Highway 

9140 Granville Avenue 

6340 No . 4 Road 

7260 St. Albans Road 

2021 Municipal 
tax exempted 

$ 16,843 

2,127 

2,840 

17,029 

6, 127 

14,981 

9,885 

22,955 

11,988 

20,360 

2,764 

19,386 

676 

1,143 

9,337 

3,868 

6,143 

2,942 

3,526 

3,752 

3,325 

2,901 

4,634 

6,644 

2,892 

2,439 

5,230 

2,375 

5,230 

3,203 

15,208 
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City of Richmond permissive property tax exemptions 

Churches and religious properties conitnued ... 

Patterson Road Assembly 9291 Walford Street $ 1,150 

Peace Evangelical Church 8280 No. 5 Road 1, 155 

Peace Mennonite Church 11571 Daniels Road 13,625 

Richmond Alliance Church 11371 No. 3 Road 2,340 

Richmond Baptist Church 6560 Blundell Road 3,624 

Richmond Baptist Church 6640 Blundell Road 12,035 

Richmond Bethel Mennonite Church 10160 No. 5 Road 3,962 

Richmond Chinese Alliance Church 10100 No. 1 Road 15,028 

Richmond Chinese Evangelical Free Church 8040 No. 5 Road 2,371 

Richmond Emmanuel Church 7451 Elmbridge Way 6,514 

Richmond Pentecostal Church 9260 Westminster Highway 1,810 

Richmond Pentecostal Church 9300 Westminster Highway 3,090 

Richmond Presbyterian Church 7111 No. 2 Road 11,873 

Richmond Sea Island United Church 8711 Cambie Road 20,617 

Salvation Army Church 8280 Gilbert Road 3,764 

Science of Spirituality SKRM Inc. 11011 Shell Road 1,263 

Shia Muslim Community 8580 No. 5 Road 1,814 

South Arm United Church 11 051 No. 3 Road 1, 117 

St. Anne's Anglican Church 4071 Francis Road 6,295 

St. Gregory Armenian Apostolic Church 13780 Westminster Highway 1,064 

St. Joseph the Worker Roman Catholic Church 4451 Williams Road 43,165 

St. Monica's Roman Catholic Church 12011 Woodhead Road 8,290 

St. Paul's Roman Catholic Parish 8251 St. Albans Road 16,425 

Steveston Buddhist Temple 4360 Garry Street 17,775 

Steveston Congregation Jehovah's Witnesses 4260 Williams Road 10,587 

Steveston United Church 3720 Broadway Street 4,404 

Subramaniya Swamy Temple 8840 No. 5 Road 1,470 

Thrangu Monastery Association 8140 No. 5 Road 3,565 

Thrangu Monastery Association 8160 No. 5 Road 1,502 

Towers Baptist Church 10311 Albion Road 10,593 

Trinity Lutheran Church 7100 Granville Avenue 16,414 

Trinity Pacific Church 10011 No. 5 Road 7,422 

Ukrainian Catholic Church 8700 Railway Avenue 3,666 

Vancouver International Buddhist Progress Society 6690 - 8181 Cambie Road 10,719 

Vancouver International Buddhist Progress Society 8271 Cambie Road 11,597 

Vedic Cultural Society of BC 8200 No. 5 Road 3,447 

West Richmond Gospel Hall 5651 Francis Road 4,630 
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City of Richmond permissive property tax exemptions 

Recreation, child care and community service properties 

Atira Women's Resource Society 650 - 5688 Hollybridge Way $ 6,599 

Cook Road Children's Centre 8300 Cook Road 1,892 

Cranberry Children's Centre 23591 Westminster Highway 5,792 

Gardens Children's Centre 1 0640 No. 5 Road 4,639 

Girl Guides of Canada 4780 Blundell Road 6,050 

Girl Guides of Canada 11551 Dyke Road 31,146 

Navy League of Canada 7 411 River Road 8,435 

Regional Animal Protection Society 12071 No. 5 Road 18,058 

Richmond Caring Place 7000 Minoru Boulevard 99,846 

Richmond Family Place 8660 Ash Street 6,691 

Richmond Lawn Bowling Club 6131 Bowling Green Road 35,634 

Richmond Gymnastics Association 140 - 7 400 River Road 13,999 

Richmond Public Library 11580 Cambie Road 3,748 

Richmond Public Library 11688 Steveston Highway 4,198 

Richmond Rod and Gun Club 7760 River Road 30,752 

Richmond Rod and Gun Club 140 - 7 400 River Road 6,999 

Richmond Tennis Club 6820 Gilbert Road 40,916 

Richmond Winter Club 5540 Hollybridge Way 180,804 

River Run Early Care and Learning Centre 10277 River Drive 8,348 

Riverside Children's Centre 5862 Dover Crescent 1,005 

Scotch Pond Heritage 2220 Chatham Street 2,636 

Seasong Child Care Centre 10380 No. 2 Road 14,847 

Sharing Farm 2900 River Road 17,130 

Terra Nova Children's Centre 6011 Blanchard Drive 2,121 

Treehouse Learning Centre 100 - 5500 Andrews Road 1,818 

Watermania 14300 Entertainment Boulevard 145,518 

West Cambie Childcare Centre 4033 Stolberg Street 3,483 

Senior citizen housing 

Richmond Legion Senior Citizen Society 7251 Langton Road $29,016 
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City of Richmond permissive property tax exemptions 

Community care facilities 

Developmental Disabilities Association 6531 Azure Road $ 2,645 

Developmental Disabilities Association 8400 Robinson Road 3,288 

Developmental Disabilities Association 7611 Langton Road 3,237 

Greater Vancouver Community Service 4811 Williams Road 2,994 

Pinegrove Place, Mennonite Care Home Society 11331 Mellis Drive 13,923 

Richmond Lions Manor 9020 Bridgeport Road 27,076 

Richmond Society for Community Living 5728 Woodwards Road 2,670 

Richmond Society for Community Living 303 - 7560 Moffatt Road 1,030 

Richmond Society for Community Living 4433 Francis Road 2,147 

Richmond Society for Community Living 9580 Pendleton Road 3, 171 

Rosewood Manor, Richmond 
6260 Blundell Road 34,784 

Intermediate Ca1·e Society 

Western Recovery Foundation 10411 Odlin Road 2,865 
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City of Richmond major services 

Major services provided by the City of Richmond 

Administration 
Includes the office of the Chief Admin istrative 
Officer who oversees the overa ll admin istration 
of the City's operations. A lso includes the Deputy 
Chief Adm inistrative Office r, Human Resources, 
Intergovernmenta l Relations and Protocol, 
Corporate Commun ications and Marketing, 
Corporate Planning and Organ izational 
Development and the Corporate Programs 
Management Group . 

Community Safety 
Brings together the City's pub lic safety providers 
includ ing RCMP, Fire-Rescue, Emergency 
Programs, Community Bylaws and Business 
Licences. 

Community Services 
Coordinates, supports and develops Richmond's 
commun ity services including Parks Services, 
Recreation and Sport Services and Arts, Cu lture 
and Heritage Services. 

Engineering and Public Works 
Th e Engineering and Public Works Departments 
deliver public works se rvices and utilities and 
engineering planning, design, construction 
and maintenance services for all uti lity and City 
building infrastructure. 

City of Richmond 2021 An nual Report 

Finance and Corporate Services 
Includes Customer Service, Information 
Technology, Finance, Economic Development, 
Real Estate Services and Corporate Bus iness 
Service Solutions. 

Planning and Development 
Includes the Policy Planning, Transportation, 
Development App li cat ions, Building Approva ls 
and Commun ity Social Development 
Departments. This division provides policy 
directions that guide growth and change in 
Richmond w ith emphasis on land use planning, 
development regulations, environmental 
protect ion, heritage and livabi li ty. 

Law and Legislative Services 
Includes the Law Department and the City Clerk's 
Office. 

Other City entities 
Gateway Theatre 
Operates the City's performing arts theatre. 

Lulu Island Energy Company 
Operates the City's district ene1·gy utilities. 

Richmond Olympic Oval Corporation 
Operates the Richmond Olympic Ova l and the 
Richmond Sport Hosting program. 

Richmond Public Library 
Operates Richmond's public lib ra ry, includ ing four 
branches. 
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City of Richmond contacts 

The City of Richmond offers many civic services to 
the community. Additional services are provided 
through the Richmond Olympic Oval, Richmond 
Public Library, Gateway Theatre and Lulu Island 
Energy Company. For more information on City 
services contact: 

City of Richmond 
6911 No. 3 Road 
Richmond, BC V6Y 2C 1 
Phone: 604-276-4000 
Email: lnfoCent1·e@Richmond.ca 

www.richmond.ca 

11 @CityofRichmondBC 

W @Richmond_BC 

@@CityofRichmondBC 

a /CityofRichmondBC 

Gateway Theatre 
6500 Gilbert Road 
Richmond, BC V7C 3V4 
Phone: 604-270-6500 

Box Office: 604-270-1812 
www.GatewayTheatre.com 

11 @GatewayThtr 

W @GatewayThtr 

@@GatewayThtr 

City of Richmond contacts 

Lulu Island Energy Company 
6911 No. 3 Road 
Richmond, BC V6Y 2C 1 
Phone: 604-276-4011 

Email: lnfo@LululslandEnergy.ca 
www.LululslandEnergy.ca 

Richmond Public Library 
100-7700 Minoru Gate (Brighouse Branch) 
Richmond, BC V6Y 1 RB 
Library Hours Line: 604-231-6401 

www.YourLibrary.ca 

11 @YourLibraryRichmond 

W @RPLBC 

@)@RPLBC 

a /YourLibraryRichmond 

ca Account: RPLYourlibrary1 

Richmond Olympic Oval 
6111 River Road 

Richmond, BC V7C 0A2 
Phone: 778-296-1400 
Email: lnfo@RichmondOval.ca 

www.RichmondOval.ca 

11 @RichmondOval 

'fl @RichmondOval 

@ @RichmondOval 

This report was prepared by the City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Communicat ions and Marketing Departments. Design, layout and production by the City 
of Richmond Production Centre. 0 2022 City of Richmond 

-() Contents printed on Canad ian made, 100% recycled stock, using environmental ly friendly toners. 
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RICHMOND CITY COUNCIL 

Top row, left to r ight: Counci llor Chak Au, Councillor Carol Day, Councillor Andy Hobbs (elected May 202 1 ), 

Councillor Alexa Loo 

Centre: Mayor Malcolm Brod ie 

Bottom row, left to right: Councillor Bill McNulty, Councillor Linda McPhai l, Councillor Harold Steves, 

Councillor Michael Wolfe 

CONN ECT WITH RICHMOND CITY COUNCIL 
To contact Counci l, email MayorAndCouncillors@ri chmond.ca or ca ll 604-276-4000. 

For Council meeting agendas and minutes, visit www.richmond.ca/cityhall/council/agendas. 

To live stream Council meetings or view videos of past meetings, visit 

www.richmond.ca/WatchOn line. 

The City of Richmond is proud of its diverse and committed workforce. This year, we 

asked our employees to take photos and send us images of "thei r Richmond" for 

this report. Photos w ith the camera icon are just some of the submissions, and we 

are delighted to share them w ith you. None are professional photographers. 

COVER PHOTO: CITY HALL IN SPRING AFTER MORNING RAIN 
PHOTO BY LUC LUK, BUILDING SYSTEM MAINTENANCE LEAD HAND, FACILITY SERVICES 
CITY EMPLOYEE SINCE 2003 
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CITY OF RICHMOND, BRITISH COLUMBIA 
2021 ANNUAL REPORT HIGHLIGHTS 
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This report features highlights from 
Richmond's 2021 Annual Report. For the 
detailed 2021 Annual Report that meets 
legislated requirements, or for an on line copy 
of this highlights report, please visit 
www. rich mond .ca/cityha 11/fi na nce/reporti ng/ 
reports . 

This report -kas prepared by the City 
of Richmond Finance and Cdrporate 
Communications and Marketing Departments. 
Design, layout and production by the City of 
Richmond Production Centre. © 2022 City of 
Richmond. 

Contents printed on 100% recycled stock, 
using environmentally friendly toners. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE MAYOR 

4 1 City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report Highlights 

The City of Richmond is proud of our 
high quality of life. Through its actions, 
City Council has always sought to provide 
infrastructure that preserves our rich and 
vibrant cultural identity. 

Events of the past two years have 
further heightened the need to focus 
on how we provide a sustainable future. 
Many think of sustainability on ly from an 
environmental perspective. Climate change 
is obviously a major concern as shown by 
extreme weather events in 2021. Through 
long-term investments in flood protection 
infrastructure as well as award-winning 
initiatives such as our Lulu Island District 
Energy program, Richmond is building a 
green and safe future for its residents. 

However, the term "sustainability" has 
a much greater meaning in Richmond. It 
encompasses the development of policies, 
services and supports to ensure that 
current and future generations maintain 

Royal 
Canadian 
Mounted 
Pollc8 

Gendarmerie 
royale 
du 
Canada 

a sense of community and belonging. It 
also includes having a strong economy 
that supports businesses, their employees 
and families. It involves different concepts 
such as ensuring safety for residents 
and businesses, providing adequate 
infrastructure as well as protecting our 
diverse cu lture. 

Protecting our community is paramount 
as demonstrated by Richmond, statistically 
in the region, having some of the lowest 
incidence of COVID-19 cases throughout 
the pandemic. Closely regulating access 
and activities to City facil ities played a 
role, as did our Council-led mask mandate 
and a vaccination requirement for City 
employees. All of Council - as well as 
almost all City staff - recognized the 
importance of protecting themselves, their 
colleagues and the community through 
vaccination against COVID-19. 

The recent opening of the City Centre 
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Community Police Office for RCMP 

operations, along w ith add ing 51 officers 

and 36 firefighters th is term are examples 

of Council 's comm itment to public safety. 

In 2021, t he RCMP Fox 80 Mental Health 

Car completed its second full year in 

partnership w ith Vancouver Coastal Hea lth 

by responding to approximately 800 ca lls. 

This program reduced high-risk situations 

through the interaction of a mental health 

professional. 

City Counci l also supported the 
RCMP "No Place for Hate" campaign 

to encourage awareness of racism and 

hat e crimes and provide tools to help 

victims, their fam il ies and friends. It has 

been heartening to see the push aga inst 
racism grow fo llowing Council 's Statement 

Aga inst Racism and Violence in 2020, 

offering further momentum to eradicate 

such unacceptable behaviour. 

Richmond is proud of its ri ch cultura l 

heritage and diversity. It honoured 
Canada's first National Day for Truth 

and Reconcil iation w ith a flag lowering, 

educationa l programs and interactive 

displays. In partnersh ip w ith Richmond 

Community Associations and other 

partners, Richmond aga in supported a 

range of activities to promote Pride Week 

and our LGBTQ2S+ commun ity. W ith a 
wide range of topics, the City's second 

Diversity Symposium was attended by over 

200 individuals from across BC, Canada 

and internationally. 

While many long-running, popular 

events and festivals remained cancelled to 

maintain publi c safety, there was growing 

acceptance of the transition to onl ine 

programs and events . For instance, the 

popu lar Doors Open Richmond event 

went onl ine aga in, attracting over 25,000 

interactions with 35 virtual locations. 

Counci l recognizes the importance and 

va lue of engagement to build a strong 

commun ity. Maintaining such events­

even if virtua l-supports that commitment. 

To ensure a bright and sustainable 

future, it is important to take action 

and make w ise investments today. 

Richmond's success, despite the cha llenges 

of COVID-19, is a cred it to those who 

contribute to making our city a better 

place. This includes our staff, volunteers 

and businesses as well as our commun ity 

and government partners. Our Annua l 

Report contains examples of our goals 

and achievements. As always, I invite you r 

comments and questions through my 

office. 

~~~ I ~:yor, City of Richmond 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHIEF 
ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER 

6 I City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report Highlights 

I am pleased to present the City of 

Richmond's Annual Report for 202 1. It 

details our strong financial position and 

outl ines many of the initiatives we are 

undertaking to achieve our vision of making 

Richmond Canada's best-managed city. 

The past year continued to present 

chal lenges due to the ongoing pandemic 

and extreme weather situations. In both 

cases, the City was well prepared and 

able to mitigate the impact due to strong 

leadersh ip, forward planning and sound 

investment. Many of those actions and 

achievements are highlighted throughout 

this report. 

As the pandemic entered its second 

year, City administration and staff 

remained focused on the need to maintain 

public safety. That requ ired difficu lt 

decisions. W ith the support of Council , 

strategies were implemented to ensure 

vital City services remained in place and 

staff cou ld contribute to susta in ing the 

local economy. 

Services transitioned smooth ly to on line 

access as the City switched seamlessly to a 

hybrid or remote working model. Not on ly 

was this in keeping with provincial health 

orders, it demonstrated the dedication and 

res ili ency of employees as they adjusted to 

new work environments whi le maintaining 

high levels of productivity and reliability. 

Their commitment to safety was further 

demonstrated w hen Counci l enacted a 

proof of vaccination requirement for all 

staff. Almost 99 per cent confirmed fu ll 

vaccination status, with most vaccinated 

long before the mandate was in place. 

It was this conscious recognition of the 

need to protect themselves, co lleagues, 

fami ly and res idents that kept Richmond's 

COVID-1 9 case counts among the lowest 

in the region. 

2021 also saw terms such as "heat 

dome" and "atmospheric river" become 

part of our vocabulary. Record summer 

temperatures saw Richmond develop an 

emergency cool ing strategy. Shou ld extreme 
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heat events become more common, the 

City is ready to provide respite for our most 

vulnerable citizens from potentially life 

threatening heat waves. 

Richmond was also subject to extreme 
rainfall events (atmospheric rivers) in 

November. In one instance, over 130 

millimetres (five inches) of rain fell in just 

three days. Thanks to long term planning 

and investment in flood protection, the 

City emerged relatively unscathed. Sad ly, 

not all Briti sh Columbia communit ies were 

as fortunate. 

Our capacity to handle the situation 

was not only due to the $120 million 

investment in flood protection over the 

years, but also the City employees who 

worked 24/7 in sometimes difficult and 

dangerous situations to keep our 39 pump 

stations clear and operational, and our 49 

ki lometres of dikes secure. 

Of course, one of the foundations for 

any successful organ ization is its abi lity to 

demonstrate strong financial stewardship. 

The City's long-term financial strategy 

remained a hallmark of our adm inistration 

and enab led us to continue to maintain 

effective and responsive service levels as 

this report shows. 

The City of Richmond remains a 

strong, culturally proud community and 

is committed to continued growth and 

success w ith in a framework of diversity, 

sustainability and va lue for our taxpayers. 

Finally, this w ill be my last Annual 

Report message as CAO . I announced 

plans to retire in mid-2022 and expect 

to hand over responsibili t ies to a new 

Chief Admin istrative Officer prior to that. 

During my 34+ years with the City, I have 

seen dramatic change and progress. I am 

proud to have played a role in bringing 

the Canada Line rapid transit to our 

community and in enabling construction 

of the internationally renowned Richmond 

Olympic Oval . 

While initia lly built as a speed-skating 

competition arena for the 2010 Olympic 

Winter Games-for wh ich Richmond 

was an official Host Venue-the Oval 

was transformed into a commun ity sport, 

recreation and elite athletics faci lity that 

now welcomes thousands of res idents of 

all ages and abil ities annual ly. It is a true 

legacy from one of my most memorable 

t imes as CAO. 

But what I am most proud of is the 

people. The staff, leadersh ip team and 

Council who continued to give t heir al l to 

ensure Richmond was always a better, safer 

and more welcoming place. As I leave, I 

know the City is in a sound position and 

more than ready to maintain its journey 

as the most appea ling, livable and well-&: commccity io Cacada 

George Duncan 

Chief Administrative Officer 
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The Community Charter requires all BC municipalities to include a statement in the Annual Report of their objectives for the current 
and future years, along with measures to track success towards those objectives. 

The City of Richmond's objectives and success indicators are expressed through the Council Strategic Plan. Soon after Council began 
its four-year term in October 2018, it undertook a strategic planning process to help fulfill its governance role and achieve a successful 
term of office. Through that process, Council adopted a revised set of eight Strategic Focus areas, which provided the framework for 
the City's programs and services during 2021. 

City Council made full COVID-19 
vaccination mandatory for all City 
employees as an added safety measure to 
protect residents, visitors and staff. By year­
end, almost 99 per cent of City staff and 
every Council member complied. Council 
also added funding for an additional 
16 RCMP officers and 12 firefighters to 
complete Richmond's Safe Community 
Strategy, as well as unveiled the new City 
Centre Community Police Office. These 
and other initiatives saw break and enter 
crimes drop 33 per cent for residences and 
15 per cent for businesses. 

Ongoing investment in dike and flood 
protection infrastructure saw the island 
city withstand one of the province's most 
devastating floods on record. Richmond's 
39 pump stations moved 90 cubic 
metres of water per second (1 .4 million 
US gallons per minute)-the equivalent 
of over two Olympic swimming pools 
every 60 seconds. The City also became 
one of only 1 5 local governments across 
Canada selected to participate in the 
Canadian Circular Cities and Regions 
Initiative, a peer-to-peer network bringing 
communities together to exchange 
best practices for implementing circular 
economy strategies and policies. 
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The City invested over $1 million 
in grants to local non-profit arts and 
culture organizations, community service 
groups, as well as grassroots providers 
in childcare, health and social services, 
and parks, recreation and community 
events. Richmond's 14th annual Doors 
Open festival offered a rare glimpse inside 
places of worship, civic centres, museums 
and local businesses throughout the 
community. Over 25,000 social media 
interactions and 13,000 views were logged 
for the week-long online event. 

Council amended the City's Affordable 
Housing Policy to increase the number of 
affordable rental units in new City Centre 
residential projects containing at least 60 
units from 10 per cent to 15 per cent­
among the highest level in the region. 
Over 1,500 affordable housing units in 
new developments across Richmond 
have been confirmed since the policy was 
introduced, with more underway. Council 
also continued to advocate for affordable, 
accessible, quality child care, opening 
two new innovative Early Childhood 
Development Hubs with 199 spaces to add 
to the more than 7,000 childcare spaces 
already in place to support the needs of 
children, families and employers in the city. 

Council supported a budget that 
enabled several key infrastructure 
projects, initially deferred due to the 
pandemic, to proceed, as well as ensuring 
operating resources for key community 
safety priorities. While utilizing reserves 
to mitigate cost increases, the budget 
maintained a one per cent commitment 
to investment for future capital needs. 

The City maintained a position of financial 
resiliency and service while keeping the 
overall impact to property owners to a tax 
change of around 27 cents per day. 

Richmond issued development and 
construction permits for 587 residential, 
333 commercial and 217 industrial 
buildings-a 23 per cent increase from 
the previous year. With $719 million in 
new construction value, this was higher 
than the City's 10-year average. The 
City also collected over $16.2 million in 
development cost charges in 2021 to help 
finance future infrastructure and amenities 
such as parks and roads. 

Prior investment, along with initiatives 
such as Richmond's Business Resilience and 
Supply Chain program and the Expedited 
Temporary Patio Program, helped local 
businesses deal with the challenges of the 
pandemic. The number of new business 
licences issued in 2021 rose 15 per cent 
from the previous year, signaling continued 
economic recovery and renewal. 

Connecting with one of the most 
culturally diverse and unique populations 
in Canada can be challenging. Over 
35,000 users participated in almost 40 
engagement initiatives on the City's 
LetsTalkRichmond.ca platform, a 44 per 
cent increase. The City's social media 
platforms also saw steady growth with a 
23 per cent increase in Facebook followers, 
a 47 per cent rise on lnstagram and a 50 
per cent jump in You Tube subscribers. The 
City's website logged over 3.4 million visits, 
a 64 per cent increase from 2020. 
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While 2021 brought new challenges to 

many parts of British Columbia, the City 

of Richmond was well positioned to meet 

them head on thanks to a lengthy history 

of infrastructure investment, planning and 

effective leadership. 

Due in large part to a multi-year 

investment of over $120 million in dikes 

and flood protection strategies, Richmond 

was successful in preventing large-

scale damage when three devastating 

atmospheric rivers hit in November. The 

City's 39 pump stations, combined with 

49 kilometres of dikes, 165 kilometres of 

watercourses, 61 kilometres of box culverts 

and 585 kilometres of drainage pipes, kept 

rising waters at bay. 
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The existing dike network can 

withstand high water events such as 

spring freshet and king tides, and handle a 
500-year return period (estimated average 

time between) flooding event. However, 

recognizing the rapid impact of climate 

change, Council authorized an acceleration 

of the plan to raise the dikes well ahead of 

current sea level rise projections over the 

next 50 years. 

Earlier in the year, Richmond 

experienced another unexpected weather 

phenomenon-the heat dome. Several 

days of unrelenting record-setting 

temperatures arrived in July, prompting the 

development of a cooling centre strategy 

and mobilization of emergency services to 

protect the most vu lnerable. 

With the pandemic continuing to keep 
a grip on the community and economy, the 
City worked to find sustainable, innovative 
ways to support residents and businesses. 
The City, along with Tourism Richmond 
and the Richmond Hotel Association, 
unveiled a tourism plan to reinvigorate and 
revitalize the ailing industry that brought 

over $2 billion to the city pre-pandemic. 

Richmond Sport Hosting still managed to 

support 20 events generating 2,700 room 

nights in 2021, and tourism numbers 

continued to rise as travel and pandemic 

restrictions eased by year-end. 

Council took many decisive steps 

to assist in preserving Richmond's rich 

agricultural heritage and promote a 

sustainable farming sector. Adoption of 
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a new Soil Deposit and Removal Bylaw 
expanded the City's regulatory framework 
with incentives for sourcing new soil from 
within Richmond while increasing fines 
for non-compliance. The bylaw provides 
enhanced enforcement in environmentally 
sensitive areas and supports other Council­
endorsed strategies such as the Ecological 
Network Management Strategy, the 
Farming First Strategy and Invasive Species 
Action Plan. The move was timely as future 
soil deposits increase as the City raises the 
level of the land for further protection. 

Development and construction offered 
visible evidence of economic recovery and 
sustainability with $719 million in new 
construction value approved . This was 
higher than Richmond's 10-year average. 

Council instilled further confidence in 
economic recovery with several key 
projects including approval of the $95 
million replacement of the Steveston 
Community Centre and Branch Library; the 
opening of the new River Parkway traffic 
and cycling corridor to alleviate congestion 
in the busy City Centre; and updates to the 
popular city-wide cycling network . 

The Provincial Government announced 
plans to build a new Steveston Highway 
Interchange and replace the aging 
George Massey Tunnel with an eight-lane 
immersed tunnel. The project recognizes 
Council's long-standing recommendation 
for how to address the heavily congested 
road corridor, reducing travel time and 
improving transit access. 

Following the success of an innovative 
road paving project using 40 per cent 
recycled materials, the City expanded 
the technology to pave 20 non­
residential pathways across Richmond, 
with more planned. Such innovation, 
combined with the continued growth of 
Richmond's award-winning district energy 
infrastructure that reduces 7,800 tonnes 
of greenhouse gasses annually, reinforce 
Richmond's commitment to a sustainable, 
environmentally friendly future. 

The City of Richmond has always been 
a leader with bold, innovative programs 
and strategies that reflect our character 
and reputation as a safe, sustainable and 
culturally diverse city that makes it one 
of the most appealing, livable and well­
managed communities in Canada. 

> 
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LONG-SERVING CAO 
BIDS FAREWELL 

Richmond's long-serving Chief 
Administrative Officer, George Duncan, will 
retire from his position on June 30, 2022 . 

The 2021 City of Richmond Annual 
Report will be the last completed under his 
full year of leadership, which has spanned 
over three decades. 

Announcing the retirement, Mayor 
Malcolm Brodie said George will be 
missed by both the organization and 
the community. "George has made 
a major impact on our city," he said. 
"Under his leadership, Richmond has 

rrj, become an award-winning leader in civic 
administration, sustainability, community 
safety and operations. One only has to 
look around to see how our city has grown 
into a diverse, dynamic and well-managed 
community to see his contributions and 
legacy." 

Examples of those contributions 
include the key role he played in bringing 

- rapid transit to Richmond with the 
introduction of the Canada Line, as well 
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as Richmond becoming a Host Venue 
for the 2010 Olympic Winter Games. He 
was instrumental in securing the design 
and construction of the world-renowned 
Richmond Olympic Oval and its successful 
transition from a competition speed 
skating venue for the Games to a state­
of-the-art multi-purpose community 
facility and sports complex benefiting local 
recreational and elite athletes alike. 

Mayor Brodie also commended George 
for his commitment to public safety, 
in particular his vital leadership during 
the COVID-19 pandemic. "Council has 
always seen the safety and well-being 
of our community as paramount," he 
said. "When the pandemic hit Richmond, 
George mobilized teams and resources to 
ensure City services and staff were well 
positioned to keep key services in place 
and to protect the safety of employees, 
residents and businesses. That Richmond is 
on the road to economic and community 
recovery so quickly is due, in large part, 
to George's experienced leadership and 
commitment during those challenging 
times." 

Joining the City in 1987, George 
was appointed CAO a decade later 
after taking on a series of progressive 
management roles and responsibilities. 
Under his leadership, the City and its 
staff have received over 200 awards 
for various programs and initiatives. 
These include two prestigious Canadian 
Association of Municipal Administrators 
(CAMA) Willis Awards for Excellence in 
Administration and Innovation, CAMA 
awards for Environmental Leadership 
and Sustainability and Professional 
Development, an Award of Excellence from 
the BC Human Resources Management 
Association, and awards from the 
International City/County Management 
Association. 
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A measurement of the City's success in achieving its goals are the honours and 
recognition from our peers and others. In 2021, Richmond again received numerous 
international, national and provincial awards recognizing our commitment to excellence 
and innovation. 

The Environmental Manager's Association of BC recognized Richmond's environmental 
stewardship with two prestigious awards. The City's Corporate Hazardous Materials 
Management Training initiative was honoured in the Regulatory Challenge category at 
the organization's 2021 Environmental Awards Gala, while its Mitchell Island Stewardship 
Initiative received the Discharge Control Award. Both programs demonstrate the City's 
commitment to protecting our environment and putting processes and systems in place 
to protect and maintain valuable ecosystems. 
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Recipient of over a dozen awards 
in the past decade, Richmond's District 
Energy Program continues to collect 
accolades for its innovation, efficiency and 
green sustainability. In 2021, it received 
the Community Energy Association's 
Climate and Energy Action Award. With 
22 buildings and over five million square 
feet of floor space, the innovative District 
Energy Program is reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions by over 7,800 tonnes-the 
equjvalent of removing 2,000 cars from 
ffllr roads-each year. 
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ALEXANDRA DISTRICT ENERGY UTILITY 
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The Minoru Centre for Active Living, 
the City of Richmond's state-of-the-art 
fitness and aquatic facility, received the 
2021 Architecture Prize for Accessibility 
from the International Olympic 
Committee, International Paralympic 
Committee, and International Association 
for Sports and Leisure Facilities. The 
annual Distinction for Accessibility 
Award aims to increase the accessibility 
of all sports and leisure facilities and 
architectural structures worldwide so 
that everyone has an opportunity to 
practice and view s~ ly and without 
barriers. 

Once again, the Government Finance 
Officers Association of the US and Canada 
presented Richmond with the Canadian 
Award for Financial Reporting (the 19th 
year in a row) and the Outstanding 
Achievement in Popular Financial 
Reporting Award (the 12th successive year) 
for its 2020 Annual Reports. 
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The Union of BC Municipalities, which represents and advocates 
to government on behalf of municipalities across British Columbia, 
presented the City of Richmond with an Honourable Mention in the 
Community Excellence Award - Service Delivery category for customer­
friendly upgrades to its Works Yard Recycling Depot. The $1.58 million 
upgrades to aging infrastructure improved operations by providing a 
larger site, expanding the number of hazardous waste materials collected, 
adding tent coverings and steel awnings to shield recyclers and staff from 
the weather, as well as the purchase of new heavy equipment for moving 
recycled materi 

Government Finance Officers Association 

Award for 
Outstanding 

Achievement in 
Popular Annual 

Financial Reporting 

Presented to 

City of Richmond 

British Columbia 

For its Annual Financial Report 
for the Fiscal Year Ended 

December 31, 2020 
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REPORT FROM THE GENERAL MANAGER, 
FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES 

Mayor Malcom Brodie and Members of 
Richmond City Council, 

I am pleased to submit the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
and Auditors' Report for the f iscal year 
ended December 31, 202 1 for the City 
of Richmond, pursuant to Section 98 
and 167 of the Community Charter. 
The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with 
Canadian public sector accounting 
standards as prescribed by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (PSAB) of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of Canada. 
Preparation of the financial statements is 
management's responsibility. 

KPMG LLP was appointed by City 
Council to independently audit the City's 
consol idated financia l statements. They 
have expressed an opinion that the 
City's consolidated f inancial statements 
present fai rly, in al l material respects, the 

G) PHOTO BY SHANNON UNRAU, 
DEPARTMENTAL ASSOCIATE 2, 
TRANSPORTATION 
CITY EMPLOYEE SINCE 2016 
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consolidated financial position of the City of Richmond as at December 31, 202 1 and its 
consolidated resu lts of operations, its changes in net consolidated financial assets and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year ended in accordance with Canadian public sector 
accounting standards. 

These financial statements combine the accounts of the City of Richmond, Richmond 
Olympic Oval and Richmond Public Library (collectively referred to as the "City"), as well 
as the City's investment in Lulu Island Energy Company, which is accounted for as a 
Government Business Enterpri se. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (IN $000s) 

Fi nancial Assets 
Liabilities 
Net Financial Assets 
Non-Financial Assets 
Accumulated Surplus 

2021 Actual 
$ 1,468,241 

528,238 
940,003 

2,547,884 
$3,487,887 

2020 Actual 
$ 1,471,442 

582,457 
888,985 

2,495,22 1 
$ 3,384,206 

Change 
$(3,201) 
(54,219) 

51,01 8 
52,663 

$103,681 

The City's overal l financial position improved by $103.7 million, with accum ulated 
surplus (sim ilar to net worth of a corporation) total ing $3.5 billion. A signif icant part 
of this increase is due to additions to capital assets and statutory reserves, as wel l as a 
reduction in liabilities, especially a reduction in accounts payable relating to postponed 
remittances to other governments relating to COVID-19 paid in 202 1. 

The City's cash and investments are $1.4 billion wh ile long-term debt continues to 
decline with an outstanding balance at the end of 202 1 of $17.4 million. Meanwhile, the 
City's tangible capital assets increased by $5 1.1 million, which includes $61.0 million of 
in-kind contributions from development as conditions of re-zoning. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS (IN $000s) 

Revenue 
Expenses 
Annual Surplus 

2021 Budget 
$575,688 

507,765 
$67,923 

2021 Actual 
$576,698 
473,017 

$1 03,681 

2020 Actual 
$579,052 
434, 188 

$144,864 

The City's consolidated revenue for the year tota led $576.7 million, a decrease of 
$2.4 mi llion from 2020 mainly due to a decrease in the gain on sa le of land offset by 
revenue increases related to facility re-openings from the COVID-1 9 closures. 

Expenses increased by $38.8 million from prior year mainly due to related facility 
re-openings from the COVID-19 closures. 

The annual surplus for 202 1 was $103 . 7 million and represents the change in 
investment in tangible capita l assets, reserves and other accumulated surp lus. 

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY 
202 1 saw the easing of COVID-1 9 challenges through the continued re-opening of 

community recreation fac il ities and resumption of gaming revenues from the re-opening 
of the River Rock Casino resulting in the City maintaining its excellent financia l position. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Jerry Chong, CPA, CA 
Acting General Manager, Finance and Corporate Services 
May 9, 2022 
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REVENUE BY SOURCE 2017-2021 
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Source: City of Richmond Finance and Corporate Services 

Investment 
income 

• 2017 • 2018 • 2019 • 2020 • 2021 

revenue 
Payments 
in lieu of 
taxes 

* Capita l funding includes: Development Cost Charges and other capital funding sources. 
* * Other includes: provincial and federal grants, licences and permits and other sources. 

EXPENSES BY FUNCTION 2017-2021 
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* Expenses for Community Services include a one-time contribution towards affordable housing of 
$17.0M in 2017. 
** Expenses for Planning and Development for 2019 include a one-time $28.1 M contribution 
towards the Canada Li ne Capstan Station . 
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1216,280 
2021 POPULATION 

Richmond 
at a glance 

I November 10, 1879 
INCORPORATED AS MUNICIPALITY 

1
129.27 

1
17 
ISLANDS COMPRISING 
THE CITY 

SIZE OF CITY IN 
SQUARE KM 

I December 3, 1990 
DESIGNATED AS CITY OF RICHMOND 

Fast facts 
$719 million 
NEW CONSTRUCTION VALUE 
IN 2021-HIGHER THAN THE 
CITY'S 10-YEAR AVERAGE 

807 
HECTARES OF CRANBERRY 
FIELDS IN PRODUCTION 

60.2 
PERCENTAGE OF THE CITY'S 
POPULATION BORN OUTSIDE 
OF CANADA 
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39 
PERCENTAGE OF THE CITY 
WITHIN THE AGRICULTURAL 
LAND RESERVE (ALR) 

49 
KILOMETRES OF DIKES FOR 
FLOOD PROTECTION 

1,966 
HECTARES THAT MAKE UP THE 
CITY'S 145 PARKS 

135 
KILOMETRES OF WALKING, 
ROLLING AND CYCLING TRAILS 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
POPULATION 2012-2021 
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TOP 10 LARGEST EMPLOYERS 
IN RICHMOND 
(IN ALPHABETICAL ORDER) 
• Air Canada 
• Allied Universal 
• Amazon Canada 
• Change Healthcare 
• City of Richmond 
• London Drugs 
• MDA Systems 
• River Rock Casino Resort 
• School District No. 38 (Richmond) 
• Vancouver Coastal Health 
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CHERRY BLOSSOMS AT MINORU LAKES IN MINORU PARK 
PHOTO BY NATALIE CHEAH, ENGINEERING ASSISTANT -
DEVELOPMENT & PROCESSING, DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS 
CITY EMPLOYEE SINCE 2018 

Sources: Statistics Canada, City of Richmond, Vancouver International Airport Authority, 
Steveston Harbour Authority, Metro Vancouver, Richmond School District. 

City of Richmond 2021 Annual Report Highlights I 21 

FIN - 103



MAJOR SERVICES PROVIDED BY 
THE CITY OF RICHMOND 

ADMINISTRATION 
Includes the office of the Ch ief 
Admin istrative Officer who oversees 
the overa ll administration of the City's 
operations. Also includes the Deputy 
Chief Administrative Officer, Human 
Resources, Intergovernmental Relations 
and Protocol, Corporate Communications 
and Marketing, Corporate Planning and 
Organizational Development and the 
Corporate Programs Management Group. 

COMMUNITY SAFETY 
Brings together the City's public safety 
providers including RCMP, Fire-Rescue, 
Emergency Programs, Community Bylaws 
and Business Licences. 

@ SUNSET IN STEVESTON 

COMMUNITY SERVI CES 
Coord inates, supports and develops 
Richmond's community services includ ing 
Parks Services, Recreation and Sport 
Services and Arts, Culture and Heritage 
Services. 

ENGIN EERING AND 
PUBLIC WORKS 
The Engineering and Public Works 
Departments deliver public works services 
and utilities and eng ineering plann ing, 
design, construction and maintenance 
services for all utility and City building 
infrastructure. 

FINANCE AND 
CORPORATE SERVICES 
Includes Customer Service, Information 
Technology, Finance, Economic 
Development, Real Estate Services and 
Corporate Business Service Solutions. 

PHOTO BY KATHY LEE, DEPARTMENTAL ASSOCIATE 2, COMMUNITY SERVICES ADMINISTRATION 
• CITY EMPLOYEE SINCE 2003 ,.. __ 

~ ~ ; II ~j ,, 
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PLANNING AND 
DEVELOPMENT 
Includes the Policy Planning, 
Transportation, Development App lications, 
Building Approva ls and Community 
Social Development Departments. This 
division provides pol icy directions that 
guide growth and change in Richmond 
with emphasis on land use planning, 
development regulations, environmenta l 
protection, heritage and livability. 

LAW AND LEGISLATIVE 
SERVICES 
Includes the Law Department and the City 
Clerk's Office. 
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CITY OF RICHMOND 
CONTACTS 

The City of Richmond offers many civic 
services to the community. Additional 
services are provided through the 
Richmond Olympic Oval, Richmond Public 
Library, Gateway Theatre and Lulu Island 
Energy Company. For more information on 
City services contact: 

CITY OF RICHMOND 
6911 No. 3 Road 
Richmond, BC V6Y 2C1 
Phone: 604-276-4000 
Email: lnfoCentre@Richmond.ca 
www.richmond.ca 
E @CityofRichmondBC 
"JI @Richmond BC 
@ @CityofRich~ondBC 
D tcityofRichmondBC 

GATEWAY THEATRE 
6500 Gilbert Road 
Richmond, BC V7C 3V4 
Phone: 604-270-6500 
Box Office: 604-270-1812 
www. Gateway Theatre .com 
E @GatewayThtr 
"JI @GatewayThtr 
@ @GatewayThtr 

LULU ISLAND ENERGY 
COMPANY 
6911 No. 3 Road 
Richmond, BC V6Y 2C1 
Phone: 604-276-40 11 
Email: lnfo@Lulu lslandEnergy.ca 
www. Lu lu lslandEnergy.ca 

RICHMOND PUBLIC LIBRARY 
100-7700 Minoru Gate (Brighouse Branch) 
Richmond, BC V6Y 1 R8 
Library Hours Line: 604-231-6401 
www.YourLibrary.ca 
E @YourlibraryRichmond 
"JI @RPLBC 
@ @RPLBC 
D /YourLibraryRichmond 
ta Account: RPLYourlibrary1 

RICHMOND OLYMPIC OVAL 
6111 River Road 
Richmond, BC V7C 0A2 
Phone: 778-296-1400 
Email : lnfo@RichmondOval.ca 
www.RichmondOval.ca 
E @RichmondOval 
"# @RichmondOval 
@ @RichmondOval 
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